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CHAIRMAN’S ADDRESS 
 
 

Dear Shareholder 
 
As the recently-appointed Chairman of Millennium Minerals, I am both privileged and delighted to report to you on what 
was an extremely successful year for your Company. 

Following the Company’s recapitalisation at the end of 2015, Millennium delivered exploration and operational success while 
at the same time investing substantial capital in the Company’s next chapter of growth. 

The strong performance of Millennium’s Nullagine Gold Project in WA’s Pilbara region was demonstrated by the fact that it 
exceeded the Company’s full year guidance with production of 86,325 ounces.  All-in sustaining costs were within the 
guidance range at A$1,213/ounce. 

The recapitalisation and this performance enabled Millennium to become debt free in early 2016 and end the year with cash 
and bullion of $28.4 million. 

Millennium’s outstanding financial performance and strengthening of the balance sheet were achieved whilst investing 
heavily in exploration and development during the year.  The highly successful +200,000m drilling campaign conducted over 
the course of 2016 saw Nullagine’s Ore Reserves increased by nearly 50 per cent to 185,900 ounces (after mining depletion 
of 97,000 ounces).  Mineral Resources rose by 160,000 ounces to 1.3 million ounces.   

Beyond exploration, the Company also invested in the processing plant and associated infrastructure including the building 
of a second tailings facility. 

The exploration budget was targeted largely at converting Resources to Reserves rather than drilling out greenfields 
prospects.  As a result, new Reserve ounces were added at an attractive cost of just A$87/ounce. 

Importantly, 75 per cent of the 1.3 million ounces Resource is now classified in the Measured and Indicated category.  This 
means there is a high level of confidence surrounding these Resources, which will help underpin the Company’s key 
exploration objective of growing the mine life at Nullagine. 

The outstanding results achieved by the Millennium team over the past 18 months have ensured that your Company now 
enjoys strong production and cashflow underpinned by an enviable balance sheet and a substantial Reserve-Resource 
inventory. 

Millennium is now focussed on maintaining its performance on these fronts while at the same time preparing for its next 
round of growth.  As part of this strategy, the Company is undertaking metallurgical testwork to determine the optimum path 
for processing the ~850,000 ounces contained in fresh rock at Nullagine. 

The 2016 exploration campaign was also notable for the outstanding deep drilling results which highlighted the potential for 
extensive mineralisation below the existing open pits.  In light of these results, initial studies are underway on the possibility 
of developing underground mines at Nullagine. 

Millennium has also witnessed changes in its boardroom and management during 2016 and in recent months.  Richard 
Procter retired as Chairman and as a Director early this year.  I would like to thank Richard for the pivotal role he played in 
establishing and then building Millennium and wish him the very best with his future endeavours. I would also like to thank 
Ross Gillon, who resigned as a Non-executive Director last year, for his long and committed service to the Company.  

During the year, the Board was strengthened with the appointment of experienced geologist and mining executive Tim 
Kennedy, and more recently, with the appointment of experienced mining engineer Peter Lester. 

In addition Peter Cash was appointed to the position of Chief Executive Officer following the resignation of Glenn Dovaston. 
I thank Glenn for his strong contribution to the successful turnaround of the Company. Peter played a pivotal role in the 
Company’s highly successful turnaround strategy, including its recapitalisation, strong operating performance and 
outstanding exploration results. His knowledge of the Company and its strategic objectives will ensure not only that Nullagine 
continues to perform strongly but that we fully capitalise on its potential. 

Finally, I thank the Millennium team, which has done an outstanding job in positioning the Company as a successful mid-tier 
Australian gold producer with a robust balance sheet and strong growth prospects. 

I look forward to reporting to you as we seek to unlock these opportunities. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Gregory Bittar 
Chairman 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

OPERATIONAL ACTIVITIES SUMMARY 

Millennium Minerals Limited operates the Nullagine Gold Project (Project), located in the Pilbara Region in Western Australia 
(Figure 1).  

Millennium recorded strong results throughout 2016. 

The strong performance at the Project resulted in the Company generating cash flows of approximately $42.1 million of from 
operating activities during the year.  This stemmed from the full-year production of 86,325 ounces, exceeding guidance of 
80,000 ounces - 85,000 ounces, and AISC of $1213/ounce, within the guidance range of $1180/ounce - $1220/ounce1. 

This performance enabled Millennium to fully extinguish its debt in March 2016 as well as fund an aggressive exploration 
program of $13.9 million. In addition, the company invested $1.8M on the acquisition of tenements and $6.1 million on the 
construction of a new tailing dam which will provide the necessary infrastructure to support an increased mine life at the 
Project. The strong operational cash flow left the Company with $28.4 million cash and bullion on hand as at December 31, 
2016. 

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company reported guidance for full-year 2017 of 80,000 – 85,000 ounces 
at an AISC of $1190/ounce - $1220/ounce. 
 

 
Figure 1 – Nullagine Deposit Location Plan over regional geology 
 

The exploration strategy at its Nullagine Gold Project generated outstanding results in 2016. The +200,000m drilling campaign 
in 2016, the Project’s Ore Reserves for the year have increased by nearly 50 per cent to 185,900 ounces (after mining 
depletion of 97,000 ounces), and Mineral Resources have risen by 160,000 ounces to 1.3 M ounces. 

Millennium has earmarked a further $15 million exploration campaign for full year 2017 across the Project area to grow its 
gold mineral inventory and mine life.   

With growing free cash flow and a strong balance sheet, the Company has established an outstanding platform for future 
growth via exploration success, potential regional consolidation as well as acquisition opportunities. 

                                                           
1 Company’s financial year ends December. 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

OPERATIONS 

Production year 2016 – Production statistics are presented in Table 1 below. 

Table 1: 2016 Key Production Summary Statistics 

 Quarter ended 
Year 

ended 

 Mar-16 Jun-16 Sep-16 Dec-16 Dec-16 

Total volume mined (bcm) 777,365 886,640 1,408,746 987,764 4,060,515 

Ore milled (tonnes) 507,206 462,108 507,847 510,529 1,987,690 

Head grade (g/t Au) 1.46 1.65 1.32 1.73 1.54 

Metallurgical recovery (%) 91 91 91 69 85 

Fine gold production (ounces) 23,166 22,760 20,018 20,381 86,325 

Gold sold (ounces) 23,060 22,908 19,006 19,488 84,463 

Gold sales revenue ($ million) 34.4 36.8 32.9 33.1 137.2 

C1 cash cost ($/ounce poured)2 968 994 1,098 1,067 1,028 

All-in sustaining cost ($/ounce poured)3 1,195 1,193 1,249 1,219 1,213 

Cash flow before financing activities ($ million) 7.1 5.1 2.6 1.1 15.9 

SAFETY 

There was no lost time injuries (LTI) recorded for the year with one medical treatment and four restricted duty injuries. The 
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) dropped from 5.70 to 0, and the Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) from 
11.39 to 9.87. 

A new cyclone management plan was used during tropical cyclone Stan in early February 2016 and was instrumental in 
ensuring minimal impact to operations.  The Nullagine Operations Emergency Response Team was called out during this 
cyclone event to assist in the search and successful recovery of a vehicle from a nearby flooded waterway.  In addition, an 
onsite medic was placed on call to assist with the care of a critical patient in the Nullagine community. During the March 
Quarter, the Project site ambulance was requested by WA Health to be on standby for one month to act as cover for the 
Nullagine community until a replacement ambulance could be sourced. 
 
ENVIRONMENT AND HERITAGE 

Mining Proposals and Native Vegetation Clearing Permit applications were approved for the Anne De Vidia, Otway’s 
extension and Gambols Hills deposits by the DMP during the Year. Mining Proposals for the Little Wonder and All Nations 
extension pits, along with new deposits at Round Hill and Bow Bells, are currently being prepared. Flora and fauna surveys 
are continued over the Project area with targeted surveys concentrating on upcoming exploration target areas. Ethnographic 
and archaeological heritage surveys by Traditional Owner groups continued across the Project during the year, with several 
areas cleared and approved for exploration and mining activities.

                                                           
2 C1 cash cost represents the costs for mining, processing, administration, by-product credits and accounting adjustments for movements in 
stockpiles, gold in circuit and waste stripping. It does not include capital expenditure, exploration, tenement management, royalties and 
corporate administration costs. 
3 All-In Sustaining Cost (AISC) per ounce poured - represents: C1 Cash Costs; corporate costs; royalties; sustaining capital; development capital; 
tenement management; rehabilitation and reclamation accretion and employee share payments. It does not include expansionary 
development including construction of the new tailings dam; or tenement acquisition expenditure; or exploration and evaluation expenditure 
of new deposits and projects. 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

 
COMMUNITY 

Millennium values its role as a proactive member of the Nullagine community and continues to foster and maintain strong 
relationships within the broader Nullagine community. The Company continued to work closely with the several local services 
including schools, Police Force, Nursing Station and DFES as well as maintenance of the Nullagine air strip for community 
operational readiness (RFDS) and maintenance of dual purpose public roads around the “5 mile” indigenous community.  

During the year, Millennium facilitated a verge side pickup scheme within the Nullagine township, allowing residents to 
dispose of unused items and to facilitate a general tidy-up of the town. Further to this Millennium supported and sponsored 
NAIDOC week celebrations at the Nullagine indigenous school, contributed significantly to several local and interstate 
indigenous events, involved in the Irrungadji Community Arts Program and the Company initiated an employment business 
opportunity with Njamal elders to provide local staff to the Project. The Company will continue to work with the community 
to engage in similar initiatives later in the year. We continue to look at avenues of support or involvement so that we can 
contribute in a positive and proactive way to the Nullagine and close surrounding communities, including providing 
employment opportunities (both permanent and short term).  
 
MINING AND MILLING 

A total of 0.99 million bcm of ore and 3.07 million bcm of waste were mined from the above deposits during 2016. The 
Company focused on mining Shearers, Otways Little Wonder and the Camel Creek deposits, Golden Eagle and Bartons during 
the year.  These deposits provided predominantly oxide feed to the mill.  

During the first quarter of 2016, mining and haulage activities concentrated on the Roscoes Reward, Junction, Little Wonder 
and Bartons deposits. In preparation for mining during the June quarter, development continued at Shearers and Otways. 

During this June quarter, mining and haulage activities were completed at the Roscoes Reward, Junction, Little Wonder and 
Bartons deposits whilst mining activities commenced at Shearers and Otways and continued through to the end of the year. 

During the December quarter, mining continued at the Shearers and Otways deposits and recommenced at Golden Eagle for 
a short period while permitting and preparations for mining activities were undertaken for the Company’s new deposit, Anne 
de Vidia.  

The processing plant performed well above design capacity with a throughput for the year of 1.99 Mt processed at a head 
grade of 1.54 g/t Au for 86,325 ounces of fine gold produced.  Processing plant utilisation averaged 93.8%. Gold recovery 
averaged 85% for the year. 

Full year gold production totalled 86,325 ounces, exceeding guidance of 80,000 ounces - 85,000 ounces, and AISC of 
$1213/ounce within the guidance range of $1180/ounce - $1220/ounce for the financial year.  Gold sales revenue totalled 
$137.1 million which was achieved at an average gold price of $1,624/ounce, consisting of 29,633 ounces sold at an average 
spot price of $1,674/ounce and 54,829 ounces delivered into the hedge at an average price of $1,597/ounce. 
 
CORPORATE 

By the end of the March quarter the Company had made final debt repayments to fully extinguish its project loan facility 
ahead of schedule as well as extinguishing its finance lease repayments leaving the Company debt free. 

On 12 July 2016, the Company announced a binding Tenement Sale Agreement to acquire 100% interest in 12 core tenements 
situated within the Project area. These tenements were previously subject to a Mining Licence Agreement and profit share 
arrangement whereby 25% of net proceeds (after cost deductions) were payable to the vendors. 

In the September Quarter, the Company signed a binding Tenement Sale Agreement to acquire 100% interest in 2 strategic 
tenements situated within the Project area in exchange for $75 k of Millennium shares.  

These acquisitions further simplify the ownership structure of these tenements and rationalises 100% ownership of the 
Nullagine Gold Project to the Company. 

During the year, the Company strengthened its board with the appointment of highly experienced Australian mining and 
exploration executive Tim Kennedy as a Non-executive Director, and the appointment experienced corporate executive Mr 
Bruno Lorenzon as an Alternate Director to Mr Michael Chye, who represents Millennium’s major shareholder, IMC Group, 
on the Board.  

On 1 August 2016, the company announced the resignation of Ross Gillon as Non-executive director. 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

CORPORATE (CONTINUED) 

Subsequent to year end on 9 February 2017 the company announced that Executive Director Greg Bittar had been appointed 
Non-executive Chairman and Peter Lester had been appointed Non-Executive Director of the Company, both effective from 
1 March 2017. Mr Lester is a mining engineer with 40 years of operational and corporate experience in the resources industry 
Mr Bittar, who has been a Millennium Director since 2014, replaced current Chairman Richard Procter, who retired after 
serving seven years as a Millennium Director, including as Chairman since April 2014.  The Company announced on 20 March 
2017 that Millennium’s General Manager – Corporate Development, Peter Cash had been appointed Chief Executive Officer, 
replacing Glenn Dovaston who resigned by mutual agreement with the Company. 

As at 31 December 2016, the Company had 780,917,069 shares on issue. 

The current composition of the Board and senior management is as follows: 

Gregory Bittar Non-executive Chairman 
Peter Lester Independent Non-executive Director 
Timothy Kennedy Independent Non-executive Director 
Michael Chye Non-executive Director 
Bruno Lorenzon Alternate Non-executive Director 
Peter Cash Chief Executive Officer 
Richard Hill Chief Financial Officer 
Pierre Malherbe Company Secretary 
 
EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT 

Millennium cornerstone exploration asset is the 100% owned Nullagine Gold Project covering 264km2 of the highly 
prospective and underexplored Mosquito Creek Gold Belt, located in Western Australia’s Pilbara region and 185 km north of 
Newman. 

Millennium generated outstanding exploration results from all five Mining Centres at Nullagine (Figure 1) throughout the 
year as part of its ongoing drilling campaign aimed at growing the Project’s gold inventory and mine life. 

The 2016 exploration campaign comprised more than 200,000m of drilling, across more than 30 targets, at the Nullagine 
Gold Project with an initial focus on delineation of shallow oxide ounces within close proximity to existing mining centres.  

One such project was Little Wonder which forms part of the Company’s Camel Creek mining centre, located approximately 
25 km north-east of the Project’s Processing Plant (Figure 1).  

Mining from a series of small, shallow open pits commenced at Little Wonder in August 2015 and was completed during the 
second quarter of 2016. A detailed review of historical drilling information was undertaken which revealed several high-grade 
mineralised structures remained open at depth (below the Little Wonder pits), as well as between the small pits and along 
strike. 

A drilling program commenced during July 2016 to test these highly promising targets down-dip and along-strike from the 
Little Wonder deposits. Several high-grade and broad intercepts were returned from this program which confirmed 
mineralisation at Little Wonder extended along strike for approximately 850 metres beneath and between the existing pits. 

A second phase of in-fill drilling returned several impressive intercepts further supporting significant potential to form one 
large open pit at Little Wonder. Best results included (Figure 2): 

o 8 m @ 101.42 g/t Au from 21 m including 3 m @ 265.00 g/t Au (LWRD0154) 

o 13 m @ 5.72 g/t Au from 35 m including 1 m @ 60.10 g/t Au from 43 m (LWRD0105) 

o 12 m @ 4.45 g/t Au from 34 m including 1 m @ 41.40 g/t Au from 35 m (LWRD0099) 

o 8 m @ 6.29 g/t Au from 52 m including 2 m @ 21.84 g/t Au from 57 m (LWRD0085) 

Several follow up drilling programs were completed during the latter part of the year to test for depth and strike extents of this 
newly defined high grade mineralisation as well as to test for the presence of parallel mineralised structures between Little 
Wonder and the nearby Roscoe’s Reward deposit (Figure 3). 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Figure 2: Little Wonder prospect location plan showing latest significant intercepts and section locations 

 

 
Figure 3: Little Wonder and Roscoes Reward infill and extensional drilling locations and intercepts 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED) 

This drilling also returned highly encouraging results indicating that parallel mineralised zones are present between the Little 
Wonder and Roscoes Reward pits as well as confirming the potential for cut backs and extensions at these Projects. Given 
the significance of these results, the Camel Creek mining centre will continue to be a strong focus for further exploration 
throughout 2017.   

In parallel with targeting shallow oxide ounces within close proximity to existing open pit operations, the Company also 
commenced a program of identifying larger exploration targets in areas close to existing infrastructure but which had seen 
very little, and at times nil, historic exploration. 

One such target identified was the Hopetoun – Endeavour trend which is interpreted to represent a north-east striking 2.25 
km mineralised fault corridor that extends from the historic Hopetoun mining and prospector workings in the south-west, 
through to the All Nations North Prospect area to the north-east.  The historic Endeavour workings are located approximately 
at the central point of this mineralised trend (Figure 4). 

The Hopetoun North – Endeavour trend is interpreted to represent gold mineralisation along the same fault / shear corridor 
that hosts the well-endowed Bartons Deposit to the south-west. This newly discovered mineralised zone potentially 
represents a significant north-eastern extension to this strongly economic mineralised trend. 

Geological mapping and rock chip sampling conducted during 2016 returned plus 1.0 g/t Au results along the length of this 
well-defined fault corridor.  Of the 42 rock-chip samples collected, 23 samples returned anomalous (+1.0 g/t Au) results, with 
8 samples returning strongly anomalous (+5 g/t Au) results which indicates the consistent and potentially high-grade nature 
of gold mineralisation along the length of the fault / shear zone.    

Results from a first-pass reconnaissance RC drilling program yielded several significant results which included (Figure 4): 

o 20 m @ 2.51 g/t Au from 28 m including 1 m @ 5.00 g/t Au (EDRD034)  

o 6 m @ 5.73 g/t Au from 52 m including 3 m @ 9.41 g/t Au (HNRD046) 

o 4 m @ 3.33 g/t Au from 3 m including 1 m @ 12.7 g/t Au (EDRD107)  

o 9 m @  3.20 g/t Au from 43 m including 2 m @ 9.70 g/t Au (HNRD063) 

o 10 m @ 2.19 g/t Au from 27 m including 1 m @ 7.14 g/t Au (HNRD058) 

 
Figure 4: Hopetoun North to Endeavour trend location plan showing significant intercepts from RC drilling 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED) 

These results support the potential to establish several open pit operations along this trend, which stretches from the All 
Nations North deposit in the north-east to the Hopetoun deposit to the south-west. These encouraging results will now be 
followed-up by drill programs during 2017 to test for extensions to the known mineralisation and infill existing wider spaced 
reconnaissance lines. 

During July 2016, the Company also commenced the next phase of its strategy to grow mine life at Nullagine with the 
commencement of a first pass deep drilling program targeting mineralisation beneath several shallow open pits. 

This first pass deep drilling program was aimed at identifying extensions to mineralisation at a vertical depth of between 50m 
and 170m beneath the Bartons, Shearers, and Golden Gate deposits. 

Limited historical drilling at these deposits returned highly promising results which demonstrate that mineralisation 
continues at depth, below the extents of the shallow open pits. Despite the success of this limited historical drilling, the 
emphasis on establishing the project based on the shallow oxide mineralisation meant no systematic follow-up deeper drilling 
was done. 

Highly encouraging results were returned from the first phases of deep drilling at Bartons which was completed in two phases 
during July and September 2016. These results included (Figures 5 and 6): 

o 4 m @ 5.10 g/t Au from 139 m including 1 m @ 12.45 g/t Au (BARD0001) 

o 7 m @ 12.06 g/t Au from 88 m including 2 m @ 39.73  g/t Au (BARD0002) 

o 9 m @ 6.53 g/t Au from 139 m including 2 m @ 23.65 g/t Au (BARD0002) 

o 1 m @ 18.50g/t Au from 42 m (BARD0003) 

o 13 m @ 3.23 g/t Au from 127 m including 1 m @ 13.35 g/t Au and 1 m @ 14.55 g/t Au (BARD0003) 

o 3 m @ 9.49 g/t Au from 97 m including 2 m @ 13.64 g/t Au (BARD0004)  

 

 
Figure 5: Bartons main lode long section showing gram-metre contours and deep drilling intercepts  
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
Figure 6: Bartons east lode long section showing gram-metre contours and deep drilling intercepts  

Deep drilling programs where then completed at the Shears and Golden Gate projects during the latter half of 2016 which 
also returned several significant intercepts and provided further evidence that extensive but relatively shallow mineralisation 
lies under the existing open pits across the Project. Significant results included:  

 
Shearers - (Figure 7): 

• 17.2 m @ 3.86 g/t Au from 147.5 m including  10.0 m @ 5.10 g/t Au (SHRD0003)  

• 6.0 m @ 2.61 g/t Au from 142 m including 1.0 m @ 11.25 g/t Au (SHRD0002)  

• 12.0 m @ 1.93 g/t Au from 143 m including 1.0 m @ 7.45 g/t Au (SHRD0001)   

 
Figure 7: Shearers long section showing gram-metre contours and deep drilling intercepts 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED) 

ABC Reef (Golden Gate) - (Figure 8) 

• 12.0 m @ 8.96 g/t Au from 105 m including 8.0 m @ 12.87 g/t Au (GGRCMET002) 

• 12.0 m @ 4.67 g/t Au from 125 m including 3.0 m @ 8.10 g/t Au (GGRCMET002) 

• 5.0 m @ 3.36 g/t Au from 139 m including 1.5 m @ 9.80 g/t Au (GGMET011) 

• 4.0 m @ 2.37 g/t Au from 109 m including 1.0 m @ 5.62 g/t Au (GGRCMET001)  

 
Figure 8: ABC Reef long section showing gram-metre contours and deep drilling intercepts  

D Reef (Golden Gate) - (Figure 9): 

• 16.8 m @ 4.09 g/t Au from 81.20 m including 3.6 m @ 10.96 g/t Au (GGMET010)  

• 9.0 m @ 6.63 g/t Au from 104 m including 6.0 m @ 8.31 g/t Au  (GGRCMET004)  

• 2.0 m @ 5.95 g/t Au from 98 m including 1.0 m @ 10.55 g/t Au (GGRCMET004) 

• 3.0 m @ 2.80 g/t Au from 117 m to EOH (GGRCMET003) 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
Figure 9: D Reef long section showing gram-metre contours and deep drilling intercepts  

Metallurgical testwork from this initial deep drilling program will also be incorporated into an ongoing scoping study to 
determine an optimum processing route to treat fresh ore types from the Project with further deep drilling programs to 
continue throughout 2017.   
 
Exploration Summary  

The aggressive exploration program conducted during 2016 delivered a host of outstanding results which culminated in the 
Project’s Ore Reserves for the year increasing by nearly 50 per cent to 185,000 ounces (after mining depletion of 97,000 
ounces) and Mineral Resources rising by 160,000 ounces to 1.3 million ounces. 
 
The 2016 exploration campaign was aimed largely at converting Mineral Resources to Ore Reserves rather than drilling out 
greenfield prospects.  The success of this strategy was reflected in the fact that new Ore Reserve ounces were added at a 
cost of just $87/ounce. 
 
Approximately 75 per cent of the 1.3 million Mineral Resource is now classified in the Measured and Indicated category.  The 
total Mineral Resource inventory now stands at 31.8 Mt at 1.3 g/t Au for 1,280,400 ounces and Ore Reserves at 3.99 Mt at 
1.4 g/t Au for 185,900 ounces. 
 
In addition to the Companys focus increasing the Project’s gold inventory and mine life, the 2016 exploration program also 
targeted depth extensions below existing pits at four of the Companys projects. This included Bartons, Shearers and Golden 
Gate.  These drilling programs delivered some spectacular results which demonstrated the presence of high-grade gold at 
depth. 
 
These results are now part of a scoping study to assess the potential for processing 850,000 ounces of fresh Ore Resource at 
Nullagine.  This study involves metallurgical tests to determine the optimum processing route for this ore.  At the time of 
writing, this work was ongoing. 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED) 

Table 2: Nullagine Gold Project – Mineral Resource Statement (31 December 2016) 

Nullagine Gold Project – Mineral Resource Statement4 

Deposit 
Measured Indicated Inferred Total Remaining 

Million 
tonnes 

Grade 
g/t Au 

Million 
tonnes 

Grade 
g/t Au 

Million 
tonnes 

Grade 
g/t Au 

Million 
tonnes 

Grade 
g/t Au Au Ounces 

Agate5   0.23 1.2 0.11 1.1 0.34 1.2 12,600 
All Nations5 0.44 1.6 0.48 1.2 0.27 1.1 1.19 1.3 50,700 

Anne de Vidia5 0.18 1.9 0.39 1.1 0.21 1.1 0.78 1.3 32,500 
Angela5   0.82 1.3 0.29 1.3 1.10 1.3 45,400 
Au816 0.15 1.6 0.28 1.2 0.89 0.9 1.32 1.0 43,000 

Bartons5 0.31 2.0 0.89 1.5 0.58 1.6 1.78 1.6 92,300 
Bow Bells5   0.21 1.5   0.21 1.5 9,800 
Condor7 0.03 3.7 0.05 3.3 0.02 3.1 0.10 3.4 11,200 

Condor North-West5   0.06 3.3 0.01 2.7 0.07 3.2 7,300 
Crossing5   0.30 1.2 0.06 1.3 0.36 1.3 14,600 
Crow5 0.07 3.1 0.03 3.0 0.01 3.0 0.11 3.0 10,400 

Falcon7 0.06 3.0 0.02 2.4   0.08 2.9 7,300 
Gambols Hill5   0.60 1.5 0.51 1.3 1.11 1.4 50,400 
Golden Gate G Reef5 0.01 3.7 0.03 3.8 0.01 2.3 0.05 3.6 6,200 

Golden Eagle6 7.82 1.1 3.67 1.0 3.85 1.0 15.33 1.1 522,700 

Golden Gate ABC Reef 
+ Harrier7 0.18 2.1 0.12 2.7 0.03 1.8 0.33 2.3 24,600 

Golden Gate D Reef7 0.02 3.9 0.02 4.0 0.05 4.1 0.09 4.0 11,600 

Hopetoun-Endeavour5   0.17 1.4 0.50 1.4 0.67 1.4 30,100 
Hut5   0.29 1.2 0.09 1.0 0.38 1.1 13,800 
Junction5 0.05 1.9 0.06 1.5 0.04 1.5 0.15 1.7 7,700 

Little wonder5 0.43 1.7 0.23 1.6 0.14 1.8 0.80 1.7 42,700 
Majuba5   0.41 1.6 0.26 1.2 0.68 1.5 31,500 
Mundalla5   0.28 1.4 0.17 1.4 0.45 1.4 20,600 

Mustang5   0.07 2.0 0.11 1.3 0.18 1.6 9,400 
Otways5 0.48 1.1 0.76 1.1 0.54 1.0 1.78 1.1 60,700 
Roscoes Reward5 0.34 1.4 0.31 1.3 0.25 1.3 0.91 1.3 38,700 

Round Hill5   0.30 2.0 0.10 2.1 0.40 2.1 26,700 
Shearers5 0.46 1.2 0.29 1.7 0.26 1.6 1.00 1.4 45,900 

Total 11.02 1.3 11.37 1.3 9.37 1.2 31.76 1.3 1,280,400 

 

                                                           
4 Figures in table may not sum due to rounding. 
5 Agate, All Nations, Angela, Anne de Vidia, Bartons, Bow Bells, Crossing, Condor North-West, Crow, Gambols Hill, Golden Gate G reef, 
Hopetoun-Endeavour, Hut, Junction, Little Wonder, Majuba, Mundalla, Mustang, Otways, Roscoes Rewards, Round Hill and Shearers were 
estimated by ordinary kriging by Millennium Minerals Limited. 
6 The Golden Eagle and Au81 deposit was estimated during ordinary kriging methodology for grade estimation by CSA Global. 
7 Golden Gate satellite deposits, namely Falcon, Condor, ABC Reef, Harrier and D Reef were estimated using ordinary kriging by Dampier 
Consulting. 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

 
EXPLORATION AND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED) 

Table 3: Nullagine Gold Project – Ore Reserve Statement (31 December 2016) 

Nullagine Gold Project – Ore Reserve Statement8 

Prospect 
COG9 Proved Probable Total 

Au (g/t) Ore (kt) Au (g/t) Ore (kt) Au (g/t) Ore (kt) Au (g/t) Ounces 

Shearers >0.58 36.4 1.8 4.4 2.9 40.8 1.9 2,500 

Otways >0.55 14.5 1.1 - 0.0 14.5 1.1 500 
Little Wonder >0.63 255.4 1.7 47.1 1.9 302.5 1.7 16,500 
Majuba >0.55 - - 299.2 1.6 299.2 1.6 15,700 

Anne de Vidia >0.57 100.0 1.9 44.6 1.4 144.6 1.8 8,300 
All Nations >0.62 304.2 1.5 79.3 1.4 383.6 1.4 17,800 
Crossing >0.54 - - 92.6 1.2 92.6 1.2 3,500 

Round Hill >0.67 - - 107.6 2.7 107.6 2.7 9,400 
Gambols Hill >0.60 - - 153.0 1.7 153.0 1.7 8,600 
Hut >0.56 - - 115.8 1.2 115.8 1.2 4,300 

Junction >0.63 21.1 2.4 1.6 1.5 22.7 2.3 1,700 
Roscoes Reward >0.63 162.3 1.5 41.4 1.6 203.7 1.5 9,900 
Golden Eagle >0.71 628.3 1.6 18.2 1.4 646.5 1.6 33,500 

Mundalla >0.63 - - 41.5 2.2 41.5 2.2 3,000 
Angela >0.55 - - 183.9 1.3 183.9 1.3 8,000 
Hopetoun-Endeavour >0.65 - - 68.0 1.6 68.0 1.6 3,400 

Bow Bells >0.70 - - 22.5 2.3 22.5 2.3 1,600 
Agate >0.56 - - 102.4 1.3 102.4 1.3 4,200 
Mustang >0.56 - - 45.8 2.0 45.8 2.0 2,900 

Condor North-West >0.56 - - 40.7 3.6 40.7 3.6 4,700 

Sub-total  1,522.2 1.6 1,509.8 1.7 3,032.0 1.6 159,900 

Stockpiles         
Golden Eagle  538.8 0.8   538.8 0.8 14,700 

Shearers  125.3 0.7   125.3 0.7 3,000 
Otways  277.8 0.9   277.8 0.9 7,800 
Roscoes Reward  7.1 0.8   7.1 0.8 200 

Bartons  4.5 1.0   4.5 1.0 100 
Little Wonder  0.4 0.7   0.4 0.7 - 
Others  3.9 1.3   3.9 1.3 200 

Sub-total  957.8 0.8   957.8 0.8 26,000 

Total Ore Reserves  2,480.0 1.3 1,509.6 1.7 3,989.0 1.4 185,900 

 

 

                                                           
8 Figures in table may not sum due to rounding. 
9 Cut-off grades vary due to variable haulage costs from pit to ROM. 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW 

Competent Persons Statements – Exploration Results  

Mr Andrew Dunn (MAIG), a geologist employed full-time by Millennium Minerals Limited, compiled the technical aspects of 
this Report. Mr Dunn is a member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and has sufficient experience that is relevant to 
this style of mineralization and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity that is being reported on to qualify as 
a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves”. Mr Dunn consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters in the form and context in which 
it appears. 
 
Competent Persons Statements – Mineral Resources 

The information in this Report which relates to Agate, Angela, Golden Gate ABC Reef-Harrier, Anne De Vidia, All Nations, 
Au81, Bartons, Bow Bells, Condor, Condor North-West, Crossing, Crow, D Reef, Falcon, Gambols Hill, G Reef, Golden Eagle, 
Hopetoun-Endeavour, Hut, Junction, Little Wonder, Majuba, Mundalla, Mustang, Otways, Roscoes Reward, Round Hill and 
Shearers Mineral Resource estimates accurately reflects information prepared by Competent Persons (as defined by the 
Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves).  

The Agate, Angela, Anne De Vidia, All Nations, Bartons, Bow Bells, Condor North-West, Crow, Gambols Hill, G Reef, Hopetoun-
Endeavour, Hut, Junction, Little Wonder, Majuba, Mundalla, Mustang, Otways, Roscoes Reward, Round Hill and Shearers 
Mineral Resource estimates have been compiled and prepared by Ms Christine Shore (MAusIMM) who is a full-time employee 
of Millennium Minerals Limited who is a Competent Person as defined by the Australasian Code for the reporting of 
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code) 2012 Edition and who consents to the inclusion in this 
report of the matters based on the information in the form and context in which it appears.  

The Golden Eagle Mineral Resource estimate has been compiled and prepared by Dr Bielin Shi, (MAusIMM) of CSA Global Pty. 
Ltd. who is a Competent Person as defined by the Australasian Code for the reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves (JORC Code) 2012 Edition and who consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on the 
information in the form and context in which it appears.  

Golden Gate ABC-Harrier, Condor, D Reef and Falcon Mineral Resource estimates have been compiled and prepared by Mr 
Andrew Paterson, (MAusIMM) of Dampier Consulting who is a Competent Person as defined by the Australasian Code for the 
reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code) 2012 Edition and who consents to the 
inclusion in this report of the matters based on the information in the form and context in which it appears.  

The Au81 Mineral Resource estimate has been compiled and prepared by Mr Grant Louw, (MAIG, MGSSA) of CSA Global Pty. 
Ltd. who is a Competent Person as defined by the Australasian Code for the reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves (JORC Code) 2012 Edition and who consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on the 
information in the form and context in which it appears.  
 
Competent Persons Statements – Ore Reserves 

The information in this Release which relates to the Ore Reserve estimates accurately reflect information prepared by 
Competent Persons (as defined by the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves).  

The information in this public statement that relates to the Ore Reserves at the Nullagine Gold Project covering the All Nations, 
Golden Eagle, Little Wonder, Junction Roscoes Reward, Round Hill, Shearers, Otways, Anne de Vidia, Gambols Hill, Mundalla, 
Angela, Mustang, Bow Bells, Hopetoun-Endeavour, Condor North-West, Agate, Crossing, Hut and Majuba Hill projects is based 
on information resulting from technical works carried out by Mr Srinivasa Rao Gadi, who is a member of the Australasian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.  

Mr Srinivasa Rao Gadi is a full-time employee of Millennium Minerals Limited and has sufficient experience which is relevant 
to the style of mineralisation and type of deposits under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify 
as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves”. Srinivasa Rao Gadi consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his 
information in the form and context in which it appears. 

Qualifying Statement 

This release may include forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on Millennium’s 
expectations and beliefs concerning future events. Forward-looking statements are necessarily subject to risks, uncertainties 
and other factors, many of which are outside the control of Millennium, which could cause actual results to differ materially 
from such statements. Millennium makes no undertaking to subsequently update or revise the forward-looking statements 
made in this release, to reflect the circumstances or events after the date of this release. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
INTRODUCTION 

To the extent they are applicable, the Company has adopted the Eight Essential Corporate Governance Principles and Best 
Practice Recommendations (“Recommendations”) as published by ASX Corporate Governance Council. The Board is 
committed to administering the policies and procedures with openness and integrity and pursuing the true spirit of 
corporate governance commensurate with the Company’s needs. As the Company’s activities develop in size, complexity, 
nature and scope, the size of the Board as well as the implementation of additional corporate governance structures will 
be given further consideration. 
 
The Company’s Board Charter, Code of Conduct, Share Trading Policy and Diversity Policy statements have been posted on 
the Company’s website. 
 
ROLE OF THE BOARD 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company is managed in a manner which protects and enhances the interests 
of its shareholders and takes into account the interests of all stakeholders. To fulfil this role, the Board is responsible for 
setting the strategic directions for the Company, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of 
these goals. Management is responsible for implementing the strategic objectives, within the risk parameters set by the 
Board, for providing the Board with accurate, timely and clear information and for all other day to day management 
activities of the Company. 

The Company has a Remuneration and Nomination Committee and an Audit Committee while the full Board carries out 
the role of the Risk Committee. 
 
BOARD COMPOSITION 

Consistent with the Recommendations, the Company considers that the Board should have at least three directors and 
strives to have a majority of independent directors.  Currently the Board has four directors, all are non-executive and two 
are classed as independent. 
 
The Board has accepted the following definition of an Independent Director: 

“An independent director is a director who is not a member of management (a non-executive director) and who: 

 is not a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer of, or otherwise associated, directly or indirectly, with a 
 substantial shareholder of the Company; 
 has not within the last three years been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or been a director after 
 ceasing to hold any such employment; 
 is not a principal of a professional adviser to the Company; 
 is not a significant consultant, supplier or customer of the Company, or an officer of or otherwise associated, directly 
 or indirectly, with a significant consultant, supplier or customer; 
 has no significant relationship with the Company other than as a Director of the Company; 
 has not served on the Board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with 
 the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company; and 
 is free from any interest and business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, 
 materially interfere with the director’s to act in the interest of the Company.” 

The determination by the Board as to whether individual directors are independent is a matter of judgment.  In making this 
determination, the Board has followed the guidance in Box 2.3 of the Recommendations and the Guide to Reporting on 
Principle 2. 

The Board considers whether the relationships the directors have with the Company materially impact on their 
independence.  In determining the materiality of these relationships, the Board has considered both quantitative and 
qualitative factors.  In determining the quantitative factors, the Board considers that a relationship is immaterial where it 
is equal to or less than 5% of the base amount.  In applying this level of materiality to the relationship of the directors to 
be independent if the interest is less than 5% of the base amount.  Millennium considers a significant consultant, supplier 
or customer to be material and impacting on a director’s independence if the total of their annual invoices amount to more 
than 5%of the Company’s total expenditure in that category.  In respect to the qualitative measures, the Board has 
considered the factors affecting the directors’ relationship with the Company and considers whether these qualitative 
factors are immaterial in the assessment of their independence.



 
  

Page | 16 

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
BOARD COMPOSITION (CONTINUED) 

Mr Kennedy and Mr Lester are considered by the Board to be independent directors. 

The Board does not consider Mr Chye to be independent by virtue of his prior employment by a substantial shareholder 
(the IMC Group) and the perceived influence this may have over him.  

Mr Bittar is not considered to be independent as he was an Executive Director from 19 December 2014 till his appointment 
as Non-executive Chairman on 1 March 2017.  

The number of directors is maintained at a level which optimises the spread of the workload and efficient decision making. 

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an ongoing basis to ensure the Board has appropriate mix of expertise and 
experience.  When a vacancy exists, through whatever cause, or where it is considered that the Board would benefit from 
the services of a new director with particular skills, the Board determines the selection criteria for the position based on 
the skills deemed necessary for the Board to best carry out its responsibilities and then appoints the most suitable 
candidate who must stand for election at the next general meeting of its shareholders. 

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of each director who is in office at the date of the financial 
report and their term of office are detailed in the Directors’ Report.  The current directors bring a range of skills and 
backgrounds to the Board including mining, geological, accountancy, finance, marketing, stockbroking and legal. 

The Company has a program for inducting new directors and providing appropriate professional development 
opportunities for directors to develop and maintain the skills and knowledge needed to perform their role as directors 
effectively. 
  
PERFORMANCE OF DIRECTORS 

The performance of the Board, its committees and individual directors is assessed through a formalised Board review 
process, including an overall Board performance survey as well as an individual peer evaluation by Board members. Due to 
the recent change in board composition a formal performance review of the Board was not undertaken during the reporting 
period and has been delayed to ensure the performance of the Board and committees post its change in composition could 
be appropriately assessed. 

In addition, the Board also conducts a review of the performance of the Company against budgeted targets on an ongoing 
basis. 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the Company’s constitution, directors must keep the Board advised, on 
an ongoing basis, of any interest that could potentially conflict with those of the Company.  Where the Board believes a 
significant conflict exists, the director concerned does not receive the relevant Board papers and is not present at the Board 
meeting whilst the item is considered. 
 
CORPORATE REPORTING 

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have made the following certifications to the Board: 

 that the Company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the 
financial condition and operational results of the Company and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; 

 that the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which 
implements the policies adopted by the Board and the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and 
controls are operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects. 

 
CODE OF CONDUCT 

The Company has developed a Code of Conduct (the Code) which has been fully endorsed by the Board and applies to all 
directors and employees.  The Code is regularly reviewed and updated as necessary to ensure it reflects the highest 
standards of behaviour and professionalism and the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity. 

In summary, the Code requires that at all times all company personnel act with utmost integrity, objectivity, in the best 
interests of the Company, and in compliance with the spirit as well as the letter, of the law and company policies. 

Any breaches of the Code are reported to the Chairman in the first instance for notification to the Board.  The directors are 
satisfied that the Company has complied with its policies on ethical standards, including trading in securities. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE AND SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION 

The Company has a policy that information concerning the Company that a reasonable person would expect to have a 
material effect on the share price of the Company’s securities is continuously disclosed as required under the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX) Listing Rules. 
 
The Company is committed to keeping shareholders fully informed of significant developments.  In addition to public 
announcements of its financial statements and significant matters, the Company encourages shareholders to communicate 
with the Company and the Board.  In addition, general meeting, provide a deeper insight into the Company and an 
opportunity for shareholders to have their questions answered. 
  
The Company Secretary is accountable directly to the Board, through the Chairman and has been nominated as the person 
responsible for communications with the ASX.  This role includes responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous 
disclosure requirements of the ASX Listing Rules, and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to the ASX, 
analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public. 
 
All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the Company’s website (www.mmltd.com.au) and mailed to those 
shareholders who request a hard copy. 
 
EXPLANATIONS FOR DEPARTURES FROM BEST PRACTICES RECOMMENDATIONS 

Principle 5 – Recommendation 5.2 

Notification of departure: 
The chair is not an independent director. 

Explanation for departure: 
Prior to becoming chairman, Mr Bittar was an executive director of the Company from 19 December 2014 through to 28 
February 2017, and is not considered independent as he was an executive of the Company within the last three years.  The 
Board recognises the importance of having an independent chair and of maintaining a board of appropriate size and 
composition.  In the future, as the Company grows and increases in size and complexity, the Board will reconsider the 
appointment of an independent chairman. 
 
Principle 7 – Recommendation 7.1 and 7.2 

Notification of departure: 
The full Board carries out the role of the risk committee. 

Explanation for departure: 
The full Board is responsible for ensuring that controls and procedures to identify, analyse, prioritise, monitor and manage 
risk are in place, being maintained and adhered to.  The Board considers that no efficiencies or other benefits would be 
gained by establishing a separate risk committee.  In the future, as the Company grows and increase in size and complexity, 
the Board will reconsider the establishment of a separate risk committee. 
 
Principle 7 – Recommendation 7.3 

Notification of departure: 
The Company does not have an internal audit function. 

Explanation for departure: 
The Board considers that no efficiencies or other benefits would be gained by establishing a separate internal audit 
function.  The Chief Financial Officer provides monthly management accounts to the Board and it is reviewed and analysed 
in detail at each Board meeting, identifying potential areas of risk and considering any relevant mitigation strategies if 
applicable.  In the future, as the Company grows and increases in size and complexity, the Board will reconsider the 
establishment of a separate internal audit function. 
 

http://www.mmltd.com.au/
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE AND ACCESS TO COMPANY INFORMATION 

Each director has the right to access to all relevant Company information and to the Company’s executives and, subject to 
prior consultation with the Chairman, may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.  A copy of 
advice received by the Directors is made available to all other members of the Board. 
 
REMUNERATION 

The Board of Directors maintains remuneration policies which are aimed at attracting and retaining a motivated workforce 
and management team.  The intention is to match the outcomes of the remuneration system with the performance of the 
Company and ultimately the value received by our shareholders on a long-term basis. 
 
The Company embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework: 
 retention and motivation of key executives; 
 attraction of quality management to the Company; and 
 performance incentives which allow executives to share the rewards of the success of the Company. 
 
Disclosures as to the nature and amount of remuneration paid to the Directors and specified executives of the Company is 
included in the Remuneration Report and Related Parties disclosures note in the financial statements.  The structure and 
objectives of the remuneration policy and links to the Company’s performance is disclosed in the annual Directors Report.   
 
The Company has a Remuneration and Nomination Committee chaired by an independent director and comprising majority 
of independent directors. The committee is responsible for undertaking appropriate checks before appointing a person or 
putting forward to security holders a candidate for election as director. 
 
ETHICS 

It is the policy of Millennium that all Directors, managers and employees are expected to act at all times with the utmost 
integrity and objectivity, striving to enhance the reputation and performance of the Company. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company has in place a framework to safeguard company assets and ensure that business risks are identified and 
properly managed. The Company has exposure to economic, environmental and social sustainability risks. The Company 
has in place a number of risk management controls which include the following: 
 Budget controls; 
 Policy stipulating authority limits for the commitment of funds for operating expenditure, capital expenditure and 

investments, as well as treasury and human resources functions; 
 A comprehensive insurance programme; 
 Monitoring the status of mining tenements; 
 Compliance with continuous disclosure obligations; and 
 Regular assessment and monitoring of key enterprise risks. 
 
Management is required to provide to the Board regular reports on all these matters. 
 
The Company has a formal risk management process, and the Board as a matter of course monitors risks at each Board 
meeting.  Mitigation strategies for the highest level risks are considered and developed and responsibility for appropriate 
action is assigned and monitored. 
 
The Board reviews the Company’s risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself that it continues to be 
sound and this has been done in the period of review. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

The Board receives regular reports about the financial position and operating results of the Company.  The Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer annually provide a formal statement to the Board that in all material respects and to 
the best of their knowledge and belief: 
 the Company’s financial reports present a true and fair view of the Company’s financial condition and operational 

results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; and 
 the Company’s risk management and internal control systems are sound, appropriate and operating efficiently and 

effectively. 
 
TRADING IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES BY DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES 

The Board has adopted a policy in relation to dealings in the Company’s securities which applies to all directors and 
employees.  Under the policy, directors are prohibited from short term or “active” trading in the Company’s securities and 
directors and employees are prohibited from dealing in the Company’s securities whilst in possession of price sensitive 
information.  The Chairman and Company Secretary must be notified of any proposed transaction. 
 
ROLE OF SHAREHOLDERS 

The shareholders of the Company play an important role in corporate governance by virtue of their responsibilities for 
voting on the appointment of directors. 
 
The Board ensures that shareholders are kept fully informed on developments affecting the Company through: 
 the Annual Report; 
 compliance with Australian Securities Exchange’s continuous disclosures requirements (and subsequent shareholder 

announcements); and 
 the annual general meeting and other meetings. 
 
DIVERSITY – BOARD COMPOSITION 

The mix of skills and diversity for which the Company is looking to achieve in membership of the Board is one that is as 
diverse as practicable given the size and scope of the Company’s operations. 
 
DIVERSITY – MEASURABLE OBJECTIVES 

The Company’s primary objectives with regard to diversity are as follows: 
 the Company’s composition of board, executives, management and employees to be as diverse as practicable; and 
 to provide equal opportunities for all positions within the Company and continue the Company’s commitment to 

employment based on merit. 
 
Primary objectives set by the Company with regard to diversity in relation to the composition of the Board and Company 
are as follows: 
 blend of skills – wide range of backgrounds: geology, mining, exploration, finance and corporate experience; 
 cultural backgrounds; 
 gender; and 
 age. 
 
DIVERSITY – ANNUAL REPORTING 

The Company’s annual reporting on the percentage of females in the organisation is as follows: 
 

 Percentage of female 

Employees 15% 

Executives and board members - 
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

The directors of Millennium Minerals Limited are pleased to present the Annual Financial Report for the year ended 31 
December 2016.   
 
DIRECTORS 

The names and details of the Company’s Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as 
follows.  Directors were in office for the entire period, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Gregory Bittar  
Non-executive Chairman (appointed 1 March 2017); Executive Director (resigned 28 February 2017) 

Greg has a Bachelor of Economics and Bachelor of Laws (University of Sydney) and Masters in Finance (London Business 
School), and has over 15 years investment banking and mining resource sector experience in Australia and overseas – having 
worked for Bankers Trust, Baring Brothers Burrows and following the completion of his Masters in Finance in 2000, he joined 
Morgan Stanley, working in London, Melbourne and Sydney. 

He has extensive experience in public and private markets mergers and acquisitions, capital markets and strategic advisory 
assignments across a range of sectors including general industrials, metals and mining, mining services and energy.  Since 
leaving Morgan Stanley in 2010, Greg has had a number of roles in the resources sector, in both management and consulting 
roles. 

Greg is a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

During the past three years, Greg has also served on the board of following ASX listed companies: 
 Trek Metals Limited (previously Zambezi Resources Limited) – Non-executive Chairman – appointed March 2016 
 Horizon Oil Limited – Non-executive director – appointed March 2017 
 
Michael Chye 
Non-executive Director 

Michael is Executive Vice President – Brand Investment Management at Thai Beverage Public Company Limited (SGX:THBEV).  
He was previously the Managing Director of IMC Investments Group and Head of Group Corporate Office of the IMC Pan Asia 
Alliance Group.  

He has more than 25 years’ experience in finance and investments. He commenced his career in academia and subsequently 
worked for the Singapore Government and multi-national companies before joining the TCC Group. He has also been an 
independent Director and Audit Committee Chairman of publicly listed companies in Singapore. 

Michael graduated with a Bachelor of Business Studies (with First Class Honours) and a Masters (with Distinction) from 
Massey University, New Zealand. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants, a member of the 
Singapore Institute of Directors and an Associate of the Singapore Association of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators. 

Michael is a member of the Audit Committee. 

During the past three years, Michael has not served as a director of any other ASX listed companies. 
 

Timothy Kennedy 
Non-executive Director (appointed 2 May 2016) 

Tim is a geologist with over 30 years‘ experience in the exploration, feasibility and development of gold, nickel, Platinum 
Group Elements (PGE), base metals and uranium projects throughout Australia. 

His most recent role was with successful mid-tier miner Independence Group NL (ASX:IGO) where he spent 11 years as 
Exploration Manager. 

Tim has also held positions with PNC Exploration, Hunter Resources, Resolute Resources and a senior role with Anglo 
American, and has been involved with a number of significant discoveries including Tropicana (gold), Bibra (gold), Ambassador 
North (uranium), Myrtle (zinc), Rosie (nickel-copper PGE), and Triumph (zinc). 

Tim is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

During the past three years, Tim has also served on the board of the following ASX listed companies: 
 Sipa Resources Limited – Non-executive director – appointed December 2016 
 Tanga Resources Limited – Non-executive director – resigned September 2014 
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Peter Lester 
Non-executive Director (appointed 1 March 2017) 

Peter is a mining engineer with more than 40 years’ experience in the mining industry in various roles including construction 
and project management, operations, corporate and financial advisory services and in business development with 
responsibility for strategic planning and corporate development, predominantly in precious and base metals. 

He has worked in operational roles in Mt Isa and Broken Hill, as well as senior executive positions with North Ltd, Newcrest 
Mining Limited, Oxiana/Oz Minerals Limited and Citadel Resources Group Limited. 

Peter has also served on several ASX listed mining boards. 

During the last three years, Peter has also served on the board of the following ASX listed companies: 
 Kidman Resources – Non-executive Chairman – appointed November 2015 
 White Rock Minerals Limited – Non-executive Director – appointed April 2013 
 Doray Minerals Limited – Non-executive Chairman – retired January 2017 
 Toro Energy Limited – Non-executive Director – retired December 2014 
 
Bruno Lorenzon 
Alternate Director to Michael Chye (appointed2 May 2016) 

Bruno is Head Group Corporate Finance at IMC Pan Asia Alliance Pte Ltd and has more than 15 years’ experience in 
investment, strategy and corporate finance in the resources sector in both Australia and overseas. 

He has worked for the IMC Group for the past eight years, and previously worked for Vale in Brazil and Rio Tinto in Australia 
in roles encompassing strategic planning, mergers and acquisitions and business development. 

Bruno has an MBA, a bachelor degree in Civil Engineering and is a CFA chartholder. 
 
Richard Procter 
Non-executive Chairman (retired 28 February 2017) 

Richard has an MBA, is a Chartered Engineer (MIMMM) and has a BSc(Eng), and he is a mining engineer with over 35 years’ 
broad international experience encompassing roles in the corporate, operations, contracting, consulting, funds management 
and corporate advisory areas. 

He has held senior industry positions that have demonstrated leadership and management of base and precious metal mining 
companies (both underground and open pit); development of project assessments including definitive/bankable feasibility 
studies and their conversion into mining operations; managed teams undertaking mining asset evaluations and valuations, 
including technical and operational audits (encompassing complete mining asset due diligence, mergers & acquisitions and 
industry expert reports). Richard also has been involved in many mining operation start-ups (both small and large) - as well 
as the re-engineering of large ongoing operations. 

Richard was a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

During the past three years, Richard has also served on the board of the following ASX listed companies: 
 Minrex Resources NL – Non-executive Chairman – appointed May 2011, resigned February 2014 
 ABM Resources NL – Non-executive Director – appointed October 2014, resigned June 2016 
 
Ross Gillon 
Non-executive Director (retired 29 July 2016) 

Ross, a principal in the legal firm Lawton Gillon, has been in legal practice for over 30 years and has previously been a Director 
of number of exploration companies. 

He has a B.Juris, LLB. 

Ross was the chairman of the both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee up to his 
retirement. 

During the past three years, Ross has not served as a director of any other ASX listed companies. 
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COMPANY SECRETARY 

Pierre Malherbe 

Pierre previously served as Chief Financial Officer of Millennium Minerals Limited from February 2009, before being 
appointed Company Secretary on 16 April 2010. 

He has broad international experience both in South Africa and Australia including 25 years of investment banking, finance 
and mining industries where he held senior financial and managerial positions.  Pierre has served as non-executive director, 
chief financial officer and company secretary for various private and publicly listed resource companies within Australia and 
overseas. 

Pierre also holds a Master of Business Management (Master of Commerce) postgraduate degree, an Honours degree majoring 
in Accounting – Bachelor of Commerce (Hons)(Acc) and a Bachelor of Commerce Investment Management degree. 
 

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

 Board Meetings Audit Committee Meetings Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee Meetings 

Directors 

No. of 
meetings held 
whilst in office 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

No. of 
meetings held 
whilst in office 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

No. of 
meetings held 
whilst in office 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

G Bittar 12 11 3 3 2 2 

M Chye 12 11 1 1 - - 

T Kennedy 8 8 1 1 1 1 

P Lester - - - - - - 

R Procter 12 12 3 3 2 2 

R Gillon 7 6 2 2 1 1 

 

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 

As at the date of this report, the Company had an Audit Committee and a Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
 
Meeting acting on the committee of the board are as follows: 

Audit Committee Remuneration and Nomination Committee 

T Kennedy (Chairman) – appointed 29 Jul 2016  Peter Lester (Chairman) – appointed 1 Mar 2017 
G Bittar  G Bittar 

M Chye T Kennedy (Chairman) – up to 1 Mar 2017 
R Gillon (Chairman) – resigned 29 Jul 2016 R Gillon (Chairman) – resigned 29 Jul 2016 
R Procter – resigned 28 Feb 2017 R Procter – resigned 28 Feb 2017 

 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the options of the Company were unchanged from the holdings 
as at 31 December 2016 as disclosed in the Remuneration Report.  The directors’ interests in the shares of the Company at 
the date of this report are set out in the table below: 

 Number of ordinary shares 
R Procter – resigned 28 Feb 2017 1,667,726 
G Bittar 2,700,000 
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

During the year, the Company has paid a premium to insure the Directors and Officer of the Company. The Company has not 
included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the directors’ liability 
and legal expense insurance contracts, as such disclosures is prohibited under the terms of the insurance contract.  
 
DIVIDENDS  

No dividends were paid during the financial year, nor have the directors recommended that any dividends be paid. 
 
NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Company during the financial year were exploration, mine development, mining and processing 
of gold. 

There has been no significant change in the nature of those activities during the year. 
 
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL POSITION 

 Revenue from operations (note 3) was $141.6 million (inclusive of by-product revenue). 

 At the end of February 2016, final repayment was made against the syndicated facility leaving the Company debt free. 

 Cash increased by $13.8 million to $25.2 million with no debt. 

 Exploration and evaluation assets went up to $20.1 million with a $16.1 million spent on exploration activities during 
 the year.  
 
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Full year 2016 production guidance for the financial year is 80,000 ounces to 85,000 ounces. The Company’s gold production 
for the year was 86,325 ounces at an average realised gold price of $1,638/ounce.  
 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

There were no other significant changes to the state of affairs of the Company that occurred during the financial year not 
otherwise disclosed in the operations review or the financial statements. 
 
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 

The Company announced on 9 February 2017, the retirement of Richard Procter as the Non-executive Chairman and the 
appointments of Greg Bittar as the Non-executive Chairman and Peter Lester as a Non-executive Director.  Both appointments 
are effective from 1 March 2017. 

On 20 March 2017, Peter Cash was appointed as Chief Executive Officer, following the resignation of Glenn Dovaston. Peter 
previously held the role of General Manager – Corporate Development with the Company. 
 
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 

There are no likely developments of which the Directors are aware which could be expected to significantly affect the results 
of the Company’s operations in subsequent financial years not otherwise disclosed in the Operations Review or the Significant 
Events after Balance Date section of the Directors’ Report. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS AND PERFORMANCE 

The operations of the Company are subject to environmental regulation under the laws of the Commonwealth and the State 
of Western Australia.  The Company holds various environmental licences issued under these laws, to regulate its mining and 
exploration activities.  These licences include conditions and regulations in relation to specifying limits on discharges into the 
air, surface water and underground, rehabilitation of areas disturbed during the course of mining and exploration activities 
and the storage of hazardous substances. 

All environmental performance obligations are monitored by the Board of directors and are subjected from time to time to 
Government agency audits and site inspections.  There have been no material breaches of the Company’s licences and all 
mining and exploration activities have been undertaken in compliance with relevant environmental regulations. 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE  

The Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 32. 
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

During the year, KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has performed other services in addition to the audit and review of the 
financial statements. 

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and is satisfied that the provision 
of non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been 
reviewed by the Board to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own 
work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or 
jointly sharing risks and rewards. 

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, KPMG, and its network firms for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the year are disclosed in note 25. 
 
ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 
The amounts contained in this report and in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where 
rounding is applicable) as permitted under the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) Corporations 
Instrument 2016/191. 
 
REMUNERATION REPORT 

The Remuneration Report which has been audited is set out on pages 25 to 31 and forms part of the Directors Report. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 
Gregory Bittar 
Chairman 
Perth, Western Australia 
27 March 2017 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

The Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2016 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Company 
in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its regulations.  This Remuneration Report forms part 
of the Directors’ Report and the disclosures contained within this report have been audited. 
 
The Remuneration Report details the remuneration arrangements for key management personnel (KMP) who are defined as 
those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company, 
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Company. 
 
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

Details of the KMP are set out as below: 

Name Position Term as KMP 

DIRECTORS 

R Procter Non-executive Chairman Full financial year 

G Bittar Executive Director Full financial year 

M Chye Non-executive Director Full financial year 

T Kennedy Non-executive Director Appointed 2 May 2016 

B Lorenzon Alternate Non-executive Director Appointed 2 May 2016 

R Gillon Non-executive Director Retired 29 July 2016 

OTHER EXECUTIVES 

G Dovaston Chief Executive Officer Full financial year 

R Hill Chief Financial Officer Full financial year 

P Cash General Manager – Corporate Development Appointed 1 March 2016 

P Manton General Manager – Operations Resigned 1 July 2016 
 
PRINCIPLES OF REMUNERATION 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company’s remuneration structures are aligned with long-term interests of 
the Company and its Shareholders.  Accordingly, the Board has an established Remuneration and Nomination Committee to 
assist it in making decisions in relation to KMP remuneration. 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee currently comprises Messrs Kennedy, Procter, Chye and Bittar. 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee decisions on the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration 
of Directors and senior executives are based on: 

♦ Attraction of quality management to the Company; 

♦ Retention of experienced and capable key executives; 

♦ Performance incentives designed to motivate executives to achieve strategic objectives and which allow executives to 
share the rewards of the success of the Company; 

♦ The competitive state of the employment market for different specific skill sets; and 

♦ Independently sourced market surveys related to the resources sector. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

REMUNERATION STRUCTURE 
 
FIXED REMUNERATION 

The structure of non-executive Director and senior executive remuneration is separate and distinct. 
 
Fixed remuneration of non-executive Directors comprises fees determined having regard to industry practice and the need 
to attract appropriately qualified persons.  Fees do not contain any non-monetary elements. 
 
Fixed remuneration of senior executives comprises base remuneration (including any fringe benefits tax charges related to 
employee benefits) and employer contributions to superannuation funds. 
 
Remuneration levels are reviewed by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and are determined after consideration 
is given to individual and overall performance of the Company, to competitive commercial rates of remuneration for similar 
levels of responsibility, industry practices and the need to retain appropriately qualified persons to fill the management 
positions necessary for the Company to meet its strategic objectives. 
 
PERFORMANACE-LINKED REMUNERATION 

Performance linked remuneration includes both short-term and long-term incentives and is designed to reward key 
management personnel for meeting or exceeding their objectives. 
 
SHORT-TERM INCENTIVES 

Each year the CEO of the Company reviews the performance of the key management personnel and makes recommendations 
to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee in relation to the awarding of any short-term incentives. 
 
In addition, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee assesses the actual performance of the Company, the separate 
departments and the individuals’ personal performance.  A cash bonus may be recommended at the discretion of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee where Company and department objectives have been met or exceeded or 
individual personal performance expectations have been exceeded. 
 
During the reporting period, a performance evaluation of key management personnel was undertaken in accordance with 
this process. 
 
LONG-TERM INCENTIVES 

Options are issued under the Employee Share Options Plan.  Options are rights to acquire ordinary shares subject to the 
satisfaction of specified performance conditions in a specified performance period.  The objective of the Employee Share 
Option Plan is to link the achievement of the Company’s operational targets with the remuneration received by the key 
management personnel charged with meeting those targets.  The total potential long-term incentive available is set at a level 
so as to provide sufficient incentive to the key management personnel to achieve the operational targets such that the cost 
to the Company is reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Each year the Remuneration and Nomination Committee reviews the objectives of the Company and makes a 
recommendation to the Board to grant options to acquire ordinary shares subject to the satisfaction of specified performance 
conditions within the specified period. 
 
Criteria used by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee to set performance conditions for options and to assess the 
performance of directors and executives may include historical and current earnings, gold production, operating costs and 
safety performance, execution of development projects, exploration success and growth of the business through 
acquisitions. 
 
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee recommends the options to be granted to directors and executives for 
approval by the Board.  The Board grants the options by giving further consideration to the seniority of the employee’s 
position, the ability of the employee to impact the achievement of the Company’s objectives and the need to retain highly 
qualified employees and executive team.  The granting of options is in substance a performance incentive which allows the 
employees to share the rewards of the success of the Company.  Participants of the Employee Share Options Plan are not 
permitted to enter into transactions which limit the economic risk of participating in the scheme whether through the use of 
derivatives or otherwise. 
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REMUNERATION STRUCTURE (CONTINUED) 
 
LONG-TERM INCENTIVES (CONTINUED) 

Assessment is made by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee regarding the achievement of the performance 
conditions and a recommendation is provided to the Board detailing the number of options to grant that is commensurate 
with the level of achievement of the predetermined performance conditions.  The Board approves the vesting of options and 
all unvested options are subsequently cancelled. 
 
In November 2015, 26.6 million options were issued to employees under the Employee Share Option Plan.  The options were 
granted at nil consideration with an exercise price of each option being $0.079.  50 percent of the options will vest upon the 
holder providing the Company with 2 years of continuous service and 50 percent of the options will vest upon the holder 
providing the Company with 3 years of continuous service.  The expiry date of each option is the earlier to occur of 18 
November 2019 and the options lapsing and being forfeited under the Plan. 
 
At the Company’s annual general meeting on 27 April 2016, the shareholders approved the November 2015 issue of 11.7 
million options to Mr Richard Procter (Non-executive Chairman), Mr Gregory Bittar (Executive Director) and Mr Ross Gillon 
(Non-executive Director).  These options have the same terms and conditions as those under the Employee Share Option 
Plan.  50 percent of the options will vest after 2 years of continuous service and the remaining 50 percent will vest after 3 
years of continuous service, subject to Board’s discretion and be exercisable on or before 18 November 2019. 
 
On 21 July 2016, the Board recommended the issue of 2.4 million options to Mr Timothy Kennedy (Non-executive Director) 
on the same terms and conditions to employees, subject to shareholders’ approval at the Company’s next annual general 
meeting. 
 
DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION 

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director of the Company and other 
executives are: 

 

Short Term 
Post- 

Employment 

Share- 
Based 

Payments Long Term 

 

  

2016 Salary and 
Fees 

Cash 
bonus 

Non-
monetary 

Benefits 

Super-
annuation Options 

Long 
Service 

Leave 

Termination 
benefits Total 

Portion of 
remunera

tion 
Performa

nce 
Related 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $  

Non-executive Directors         
R Procter  90,000  -  -  -  158,908  -  -  248,908  64% 
M Chye  60,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  60,000  - 
T Kennedy 1  40,000  -  -  -  44,792A  -  -  84,792  53% 
R Gillon 2  35,000  -  -  -  254,640  -  -  289,640  88% 

Executive Director         
G Bittar  171,000  -  -  -  302,918  -  -  473,918  64% 

Executives          
G Dovaston3  375,858  67,083  -  35,665  57,082  -  -  535,688  23% 
R Hill  290,796  30,479  -  28,359  21,707  6,952   -  378,293  14% 

P Cash 4  241,667  -  -  22,959  24,673  -  -  289,299  9% 
P Manton 5  185,057  4,956  -  23,507  -  -  80,000  293,520  2% 

Total  1,489,378  102,518  -  110,490  864,720  6,952  80,000  2,654,058  

A Options to be issued to Mr Timothy Kennedy are subject to shareholders’ approval which will occur after year end. For 
accounting purposes under AASB 2 “Share Based Payments” where grant date occurs after year end, the estimated value of 
the grant date is the end of the reporting period 31 December 2016.  Once the grant date has been established (upon 
shareholders’ approval), the estimated fair value of the share based payment shall be revised to use the fair value of the 
shares on the actual grant date. 
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DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION 

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director of the Company and other 
executives are: 
 
 

Short Term 
Post- 

Employment 

Share- 
Based 

Payments Long Term 

 

  

2015 Salary and 
Fees 

Cash 
bonus 

Non-
monetary 

Benefits 

Super-
annuation Options 

Long 
Service 

Leave 

Termination 
benefits Total 

Portion of 
remunera

tion 
Performa

nce 
Related 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $  
 

  
 
 

 
 
   

 

  

   
 

 
  

   
 
 
 

 
  

  

 

 
 

          
 

        
Non-executive Directors         
R Procter  90,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  90,000  - 

M Chye  60,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  60,000  - 

R Gillon   60,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  60,000  - 

Executive Director         
G Bittar  210,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  210,000  - 

Executives          
G Dovaston  374,305  -  -  35,559  7,800  -  -  417,664  2% 

R Hill  291,184  -  -  27,663  2,966  21,787   -  343,600  1% 

P Manton   79,416  -  -  7,545  2,966  -  -  89,927  3% 

S Pooley 5  177,011  -  -  9,118  -  -  -  186,129  - 

Total  1,341,916  -  -  79,885  13,732  21,787  - 1,457,320  

1. Mr Kennedy joined the Board as an Non-executive Director on 2 May 2016. 

2. Mr Gillon retired from his position as non-executive director on 29 July 2016. 

3. Mr Dovaston resigned from his position as Chief Executive Officer on 17 March 2017. 

4. Mr Cash commenced with the Company on 1 March 2016 in the role of General Manager – Corporate Development 
 and took on the role of Chief Executive Officer on 17 March 2017. 

5. Mr Manton resigned from his position as General Manager – Operations on 1 July 2016 and forfeited the share options 
 granted during the prior year. 

6. Mr Pooley resigned from his position as General Manager – Corporate on 1 April 2015. 
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EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS 
 
The Company has entered into executive employment agreements with each Key Management Person (KMP). No service contract 
specifies a term of employment or entitlement to performance based incentives. The table below contains a summary of the key 
contractual provisions of the contracts of employment for the executive KMP. 
 

Condition Chief Executive Officer 
General Manager – 
Corporate 
Development 

Chief Financial Officer General Manager - 
Operations 

Employer initiated termination    

- with reason 6 months 3 months 1 month 1 month 

- incapacity 
 (illness/injury) 6 months 3 months Not applicable Not applicable 

- redundancy 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 

- serious misconduct Immediate  Immediate Immediate Immediate 

Employee initiated termination    

- resignation 3 months 1 month 1 month 1 month 

Prescribed conditions – within one month of event occurring  

- change in control 75% of annual salary 50% of annual salary Not applicable Not applicable 

-material downgrade in    
position 75% of annual salary 25% of annual salary Not applicable Not applicable 

  
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
 
Mr Greg Bittar, the Executive director is employed on a consultancy basis at the rate of $17,500 per month with no additional director 
fees to be paid. With the appointment of the General Manager – Corporate Development, Mr Bittar’s involvement in corporate 
development was then reduced, resulting in a reduction of fees to $11,000 per month from July 2016.  The agreement may be 
terminated by the Company on the provision of one month’s notice and similarly Mr Bittar may terminate the agreement by giving one 
month’s notice.  Mr Bittar is appointed as Non-executive Chairman on 1 March 2017 and his fees will reduce to $90,000 per annum. 
 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
 
Total remuneration for all non-executive directors, last voted upon by the shareholders at the 2007 AGM, is not to exceed $350,000 
per annum.  At the date of this report, total non-executive directors’ base fees are $225,000 per annum. 
 
Non-executive directors’ fees cover all main board activities and membership of board committees.  Non-executive directors have a 
written agreement setting out terms of their appointment and do not receive any benefits on retirement.  
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS – OPTIONS GRANTED, VESTED AND OUTSTANDING DURING THE YEAR 
 

 Granted Terms and conditions for each grant Vested 

 Number  Grant date 
Fair value 

per option 
at grant 

 

Exercise 
price per 

option 
Expiry date Vesting date Number 

% vested 
during the 

year 

Non-executive Directors 

R Procter 1,600,000 27 Apr 2016 $0.106 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2017 - - 

 1,600,000 27 Apr 2016 $0.106 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2018 - - 

R Gillon 1,200,000 27 Apr 2016 $0.106 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2017 - - 

 1,200,000 27 Apr 2016 $0.106 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2018 - - 

T Kennedy 6 1,200,000 21 Jul 2016 $0.144 $0.360 3 Jun 2020 21 Jul 2018 - - 

 1,200,000 21 Jul 2016 $0.144 $0.360 3 Jun 2020 21 Jul 2019   

Executive Director 

G Bittar 3,050,000 27 Apr 2016 $0.106 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2017 - - 

 3,050,000 27 Apr 2016 $0.106 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2018 - - 

Executives 

G Dovaston 3,550,000 17 Nov 2015 $0.049 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2017 - - 

 3,550,000 17 Nov 2015 $0.049 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2018 - - 

R Hill 1,350,000 17 Nov 2015 $0.049 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2017 - - 

 1,350,000 17 Nov 2015 $0.049 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2018 - - 

P Cash 1,350,000 17 Nov 2015 $0.049 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2017 - - 

 1,350,000 17 Nov 2015 $0.049 $0.079 18 Nov 2019 16 Nov 2018 - - 
 

 
Value of options 

granted during the 
year 

Value of options 
exercised during the 

year 

Value of options 
expired/forfeited 

during the year 

Remuneration 
consisting of share 

options for the year 
 $ $ $  

Non-executive Directors 
R Procter  339,200  -  -  64% 

R Gillon  254,400  -  -  88% 

T Kennedy 6  345,000 
-   -  53% 

Executive Director 
G Bittar  646,600  -  -  64% 

Executives 
P Manton  -  -  132,300  - 

No options were issued to the KMP during the year, other than those listed above. 
 
6. For accounting purposes under AASB 2 “Share Based Payments” where grant date occurs after year end, the estimated value of the 

grant date is the end of the reporting period 31 December 2016.  Once the grant date has been established (upon shareholders’ 
approval), the estimated fair value of the share based payment shall be revised to use the fair value of the shares on the actual 
grant date. Grant date will be set at the next annual general meeting. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS – OPTIONS GRANTED, VESTED AND OUTSTANDING DURING THE YEAR 

The movement during the reporting period, by number of options over ordinary shares in Millennium Minerals Limited held, directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 
 

      VESTED AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 
Held at 
start of 
period  

Granted as 
remuneration 

Options 
exercised 

Net change 
Other 

Held at end 
of period Total Exercisable Not 

exercisable 

Non-executive Directors 

R Procter - 3,200,000 - - 3,200,000 - - - 
R Gillon - 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000 - - - 

T Kennedy* - 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000 - - - 

Executive Director 

G Bittar - 6,100,000 - - 6,100,000 - - - 

Executives 

G Dovaston 7,100,000 - - - 7,100,000 - - - 
R Hill 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 - - - 
P Cash 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 - - - 

P Manton 2,700,000 - - (2,700,000) - - - - 
 
* Options listed as remuneration for T Kennedy are subject to shareholders’ approval.  For accounting purposes under AASB 2 “Share 

Based Payments” where grant date occurs after year end, the estimated value of the grant date is the end of the reporting period 31 
December 2016.  Once the grant date has been established, the estimated fair value of the share based payment shall be revised to 
use the fair value of the shares on the actual grant date. Grant date will be set at the next annual general meeting. 

 
MOVEMENTS IN SHARES 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of shares in Millennium Minerals Limited held, directly, indirectly or 
beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 

 Held at 1 Jan 2016 Received on 
exercise of options Other changes* Held at 31 Dec 2016 

Non-executive Directors 
R Procter  1,667,726  -  -  1667,726 
R Gillon  2,749,133  -  (105,000)  2,644,133 
Executive Director 
G Bittar  2,700,000  -  -  2,700,000 
Executives 
G Dovaston  4,050,000  -  -  4,050,000 
R Hill  660,640  -  (473,975)  186,665 
P Cash  1,420,000  -  80,000  1,500,000 

 

* Other changes represent shares that were purchased or sold during the year. 
 
LOANS AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS 

There were no related party transactions between the Company and key management personnel during the year. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 

 
Gregory Bittar 
Chairman 
Perth, Western Australia 
27 March 2017 
  



 

 
 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Profession Standards Legislation. 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
 

To the Directors of Millennium Minerals Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016 there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.  

  

  

KPMG  R Gambitta 
Partner 

 Perth 

 27 March 2017 
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 2016 2015 

 Note $’000 $’000 

    

Revenue  3 141,591 142,450 

Cost of goods sold 4 (115,725) (110,988) 

Gross profit  25,866 31,462 

Other income 3 162 2,028 

Administrative and other expenses 5 (5,745) (6,058) 

Exploration expenditure impaired 11 (145) - 

Operating profit  20,138 27,432 

Finance income 17 1,437 2,352 
Finance costs 17 (4,516) (6,899) 

Profit before tax  17,059 22,885 

Income tax expense 6 - - 

Net profit attributable to members   17,059 22,885 

Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income  - - 

Income tax relating to items of comprehensive income  - - 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  - - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  17,059 22,885 

    

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 7  2.25  10.81 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 7 2.19  10.40 

    

 
 
The above statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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   2016 2015 

 Note $’000 $’000 

    

ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 8 25,175 11,414 
Trade and other receivables 9 2,601 2,414 
Inventories 10 16,564 18,386 

Other financial assets 19 1,395 611 

Total current assets  45,735 32,825 
    
Non-current assets    

Exploration and evaluation assets 11 20,120 7,341 

Mine properties 12 17,040 8,026 
Property, plant and equipment 13 23,123 33,708 

Total non-current assets  60,283 49,075 

Total assets  106,018 81,900 
    
LIABILITIES    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 15 10,030 9,318 

Provisions 16 1,080 868 
Borrowings 17 - 3,689 
Lease liabilities  - 289 

Other financial liabilities 19 - 653 

Total current liabilities  11,110 14,817 

    
Non-current liabilities    

Provisions 16 19,174 11,449 

Total non-current liabilities  19,174 11,449 

Total liabilities  30,284 26,266 

    
Net assets  75,734 55,634 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 20 165,152 163,185 
Reserves 20 5,461 4,387 
Accumulated losses  (94,879) (111,938) 

Total Equity  75,734 55,634 

 
 
 

   
 
The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 REPORT (AUDITED)MUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

Page | 35 

 
 

Issued capital 
Share option 

reserve 
Accumulated 

losses Total equity 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

     
Balance at 1 January 2016 163,185 4,387 (111,938) 55,634 

Net profit for the year - - 17,059 17,060 
Other comprehensive income - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 17,059 17,060 

     
Transactions with owners     
Share-based payments expense - 1,074 - 1,074 
Shares issued, net of transaction costs 1,967 - - 1,967 

Total transactions with owners 1,967 1,074 - 3,041 

     
Balance at 31 December 2016 165,152 5,461 (94,879) 75,734 

     
     
Balance at 1 January 2015 143,940 3,080 (134,823) 12,197 

Net profit for the year - - 22,885 22,885 
Other comprehensive income - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 22,885 22,885 

     
Transactions with owners     
Share-based payments expense - 1,307 - 1,307 

Shares issued, net of transaction costs 19,245 - - 19,245 

Total transactions with owners 19,245 1,307 - 20,552 

     
Balance at 31 December 2015 163,185 4,387 (111,938) 55,634 

     
 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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  2016 2015 
 Note $’000 $’000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts in the course of operations  137,353 139,464 
Payments in the course of operations  (95,445) (108,834) 
Interest received  155 36 

Net cash from operating activities 8 42,063 30,666 

    
Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for property, plant and equipment 13 (77) (581) 
Proceeds from sale of assets  10 3,889 
Payments for mineral exploration areas and evaluation 11 (16,065) (1,494) 

Payments for development of mining properties 12 (10,041) (4,532) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (26,173) (2,718) 

    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Repayment of leases and borrowings  (3,997) (36,550) 
Interest paid  (98) (941) 

Proceeds from issue of shares  1,977 21,000 
Payments for transaction costs  (11) (1,706) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (2,129) (18,197) 

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  13,761 9,751 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  11,414 1,663 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  8 25,175 11,414 

    
 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Millennium Minerals Limited is a for profit company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in Australia whose shares 
are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.  Its registered office and principal place of business is: 

Millennium Minerals Limited 
Ground Floor 
10 Kings Park Road 
West Perth   WA 6005 

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the company are described in the Directors’ Report. 

(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis 
except for assets and liabilities which are required to be measured at fair value. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2017. 
 
All amounts are presented in Australian dollars and the values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($‘000) unless 
otherwise stated, in accordance with ASIC Instrument 2016/191. 
 
The Company has adopted all the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB 
that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
 
All new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 
 
Any significant impact on the accounting policies of Company from the early adoption of these Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations are disclosed below.  The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any 
significant impact on the financial performance or position of the Company. 
 
Applicable Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
effective and have not been adopted by the Company for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2016 are as 
follows: 
 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments – Application date of standard 1 January 2018 
This standard addresses the clarification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets. 
 
The adoption of AASB9 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements and disclosure. 
 
AASB 16 Leases – Application date of standard 1 January 2019 
This standard removes the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases – for the lessee – effectively 
treating all leases as finance leases.  Short-term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of low value assets (such as personal 
computers) are exempt from the lease accounting requirements.  There are also changes in accounting over the life of the 
lease.  In particular, companies will now recognise a front-loaded pattern of expenses from most leases, even when they 
pay constant rentals.  
 
The Company is currently assessing the impact of the new standard on its financial statements. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – Application date of standard 1 January 2018 
This standard replaces AASB 118 which covers revenue arising from the sale of goods and the rendering of services and 
AASB 111 which covers construction contracts.   
 
The new standard is based on the principles that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a 
customer.  It permits either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the adoption. 
 
This standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements and disclosures. 
 
There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the 
Company in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

 
(B) KEY ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, JUDGEMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, income and expenses.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  These form the basis of making judgments about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgments, estimates and 
assumptions are made.  Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and 
may materially affect financial position reported in future periods. 
 
Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from 
those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 
 
Determination of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 
The determination of mineral resources and ore reserves impacts the accounting for asset carrying values.  Millennium 
Minerals Limited estimates its mineral resources and ore reserves in accordance with the Joint Ore Reserves Committee 
(JORC) Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 2012 (the “JORC” code).  
The information on minerals resources and ore reserves was prepared by or under the supervision of Competent Persons 
as defined in the JORC Code.  The amounts presented are based on the Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves determined 
under the JORC Code.   
 
There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral resources and ore reserves, and assumptions that are 
valid at the time of estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available.  Changes in the forecast 
prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves and 
may ultimately result in ore reserves being restated. 
 
This determination of mineral resources and ore reserves will impact the quantification of depreciation, amortisation and 
rehabilitation. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(B) KEY ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, JUDGEMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

Recovery of Deferred Tax Assets 
Judgment is required in determining whether the deferred tax assets are recognised in the statement of financial position.  
Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unutilised tax losses, require management to assess the likelihood that 
the Company will generate taxable earnings in future periods, in order to utilise recognised deferred tax assets.  Estimates 
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing laws in Australia. 
 
To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Company to 
realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be impacted.  Additionally, future changes in tax 
laws in Australia could limit the ability of the Company to obtain tax deductions in future periods. 
 
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future 
events.  The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 
 
Impairment of non-current assets 
The recoverable amount of the Company’s non-current assets are reviewed at each reporting period to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment.  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group 
that generates cash flows that are largely independent from other assets and groups.  Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit and loss. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated cash flows are discounted to their present value using  pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, as well as the timing 
of the cash flows and expected life of the relevant area of interest, exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital 
requirements and future operating performance.  Changes in these estimates and assumptions impact the recoverable 
amount of the asset cash-generating unit, and accordingly could result in an adjustment to the carrying amount of that 
asset or cash-generating unit. 
 
Factors that could impact the future recoverability of non-current assets include the level of reserves and resources, plant 
performance, costs of production, production rates, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration 
obligations) and changes to commodity prices. 
 
Impairment of exploration assets 
The recoverable amount of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed at each reporting period to 
determine if there is any indication of impairment.  
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and 
commercial viability is unlikely, or (ii) facts and circumstances suggest the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount.  
The application of this policy requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions about future events or 
circumstances, in particular, whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established.  These estimates and 
assumptions may change as new information becomes available and could have a material impact on the carrying value of 
exploration and evaluation assets.  If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the 
recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount is tested for impairment in the period when the new 
information becomes available. 

 
Mine rehabilitation provision 
The Company assesses its mine rehabilitation provision yearly in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 16.  
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation as there are many transactions and 
other factors that will affect this liability include future development, changes in technology, changes in rehabilitation 
regulations, commodity price changes and changes in interest rates.  When these factors change, or become known in the 
future, such differences will impact the mine rehabilitation provision in the period in which they change or become known, 
which in turn would impact future financial results. 
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2. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company operates predominantly in one operating segment, being the exploration, development, mining and 
processing of gold in the East Pilbara region of Western Australia.  This operating segment is based on the internal reports 
that are reviewed by the Board of Directors (who are identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers) in assessing 
performance and in determining the allocation of resources. 
 
The Chief Operating Decision Makers review EBITDA (earnings before income tax, depreciation and amortisation) monthly.  
The accounting policies adopted for internal reporting are consistent with those adopted in the financial statements.  
Additionally, the Company’s customers are all located within Australia. 

 
3. REVENUE  

Accounting policies 
 
GOLD AND CONCENTRATE SALES 

Revenue is recognised and measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.   

The specific recognition criteria for gold bullion and concentrate sales is when there has been a transfer of bullion from the 
Company’s gold metal account to the customers, at which point the legal title passed from the Company to the customer 
and the selling price can be determined. Sales revenue represents gross proceeds receivable from the customer. 
 
INTEREST 

Interest revenue is accrued using the effective interest method, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Revenue    

Sale of gold 141,423 142,239 

Sale of silver 168 211 

 141,591 142,450 

Other income   
Interest 155 36 
Gain on disposal of property 7 90 
Gain on disposal of tenements (refer note 11) - 1,902 

 162 2,028 

 
4. COST OF GOODS SOLD 

 Accounting policies 
 
COSTS OF PRODUCTION 

Costs of production include direct costs incurred for mining, milling, maintenance, laboratory and mine site administration, 
net of costs capitalised to pre-strip and production stripping assets.  This category also includes movements in the cost of 
inventory and net realisable value write downs. 
 
DEPRECIATION 

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over each item’s expected useful life to the 
Company. 

The expected useful life of plant, equipment and buildings is the shorter of the life of the mine and the useful life of the 
individual item.  The expected useful lives of plant and equipment are between 3 to 7 years. 

The carrying amounts, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting date, with the 
effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 
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4. COST OF GOODS SOLD (CONTINUED) 

AMORTISATION OF MINE DEVELOPMENT 

Accumulated mine development costs are amortised on a unit-of-production (UOP) basis over the economically recoverable 
reserves of the mine.  The UOP rate for the amortisation of mine development costs takes into account expenditures 
incurred to date. 

 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Cost of goods sold   

Costs of production 85,694 86,912 

Royalties 8,092 12,249 
Depreciation of plant and equipment 10,523 10,291 
Amortisation of mine development 11,416 1,536 

 115,725 110,988 

 
5. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES 

Accounting policies 
 
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 

(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, and annual leave are recognised as employee benefits in respect of employee 
services up to the reporting date.  They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. 

(ii) Employee benefits on-costs 
Employee benefit on-costs including payroll tax and superannuation guarantee charges are charged as expenses when 
incurred. 

(iii) Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by employees up to a reporting date.  The obligation is discounted using the 
high quality corporate bond rate at reporting date with maturity dates commensurate with the terms of the 
Company’s obligations. 

 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Corporate expenses 1,769 2,061 
Directors fees 396 411 

Employee benefit expenses 1,894 2,008 
Superannuation 152 148 
Investors relations 297 72 

Share-based payments 1,073 1,307 
Statutory compliance 164 51 

 5,745 6,058 
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5. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
 
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees and directors via a Share Option Plan as discussed in note 
21. 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees and directors is measured by reference to the fair value of 
the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by management using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model. 

In valuing the equity-settled transactions, performance conditions are taken into account. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period), ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting date). 

At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative change to the statement of comprehensive income is the 
product of: 

 the grant date value of the option; 

 the current best estimate of the number of options that will vest, taking into account such factors as the likelihood of 
employee turnover during the vesting period and the likelihood of non-market performance conditions being met; and 

 the expired portion of the vesting period. 

Until an option has vested, any amounts recorded are contingent and will be adjusted if more or fewer awards vest than 
were originally anticipated to do so. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per 
share. 

 
6. INCOME TAXES 

 Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.   

Accounting policy 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing the temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted and substantially enacted by the reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
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6. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) 
 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

The major components of income tax expenses are:   
CURRENT INCOME TAX   
Current income tax expense  - - 
Adjustment in respect of income tax of previous years  - - 

Deferred income tax  - - 
Relating to the origination and reversal of temporary difference 
 

 - - 
Adjustment in respect of income tax of previous years  

  
- 

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income  - - 

   
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable   

Accounting profit before income tax  17,059 22,885 

Tax at statutory income tax rate of 30%  5,11

  

6,865 
Adjustments in respect of current year income tax   
Share-based payments  322 393 
Other non-deductible expenses  2 2 

Non-assessable income  - (706) 
Net timing differences not recognised  (3,361) (1,945) 
Recoupment of prior year losses not previously recognised  (2,081) (4,609) 

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income  - - 

    
 
 

Balance Sheet Balance Sheet Net Movement  Net Movement 
  2016  2015  2016  2015 
  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Deferred tax assets     
Property, plant and equipment  357  2,507  (2,149)  1,018 
Mine properties  5,535  7,594  (2,060)  (2,703) 

Deferred waste asset  -  -
 
 
  

 -  (2,725) 
Trade and other payables  57  43  14 

 
 (53) 

Provisions  6,076  3,695  2,381  1,629 

R&D tax offsets carried forward  7,085  7,032  53  6,122 
Tax losses carried forward  15,028  17,124  (2,096)  (5,366) 
Borrowing costs  -  360  (360)  (465) 

Capital raising costs in equity  413  524  (111)  213 

Gross deferred tax assets  34,551  38,879  (4,328)  (2,330) 
Deferred tax liabilities     
Exploration & evaluation expenditure  (5,901)  (2,202)  (3,699)  121 
Mine rehabilitation asset  (2,782)  (1,509)  (1,273)  (1,509) 
Fuel tax credits  (171)  -  (171)  - 

Prepayments  (13)  -  (13)  - 
Derivative assets  (418)  -  (418)  - 

Gross deferred tax liabilities  (9,285)  (3,711)  (5,574)  (1,388) 

Net deferred tax assets not brought to account  25.266  35,168  (9,902)  (3,718) 
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6. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED) 

 The benefit of tax losses not brought to account for the 2016 year will only be obtained if: 
(i) future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised; 
(ii) the conditions for deductibility is imposed by the tax legislation continue to be complied with; and 
(iii) the Company is able to meet the continuity of ownership and/or continuity of business tests. 
 
Revenue tax losses of $50.1 million (2015: $57.1 million) and a R&D tax offset of $7.1 million (2015: $7.1 million) are 
available for offsetting against future taxable profits subject to continuing to meet the relevant statutory tests. 

 
7. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Accounting policy 
 
Earnings per share (EPS) is the amount of post-tax profits attributable to each share.  The Company presents basic and 
diluted EPS data for ordinary shares.  Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit and loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise listed options 
and all unlisted share options granted but not necessarily exercised. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Earnings used in calculating EPS    
Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 17,059  22,885 
   

Weighted average number of shares Number of shares Number of shares 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator 

      
758,013,916 211,695,372 

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:   
Options 20,425,381 8,400,271 

Weighted average number of ordinary and potential shares used as the 
denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share 778,439,297 220,095,643 

 
8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Accounting policy 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Cash at bank and on hand 25,175 11,414 
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8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Reconciliation to the statement of cash flows 
Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash flows from operating activities: 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Profit for the year 17,059 22,885 

Adjustments for:   
Depreciation and amortisation 21,939 11,827 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation asset 145 - 
Unwinding of rehabilitation 161 144 
Finance costs 116 3,769 

Unrealised gain on forward contracts (1,437) (2,352) 
Gain on disposal of property and tenements (7) (1,992) 
Share-based payments 1,073 1,307 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities   
Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables (187) 857 
Decrease in inventories 1,822 92 

Decrease in other assets 252 147 
Increase /(Decrease) in trade and other payables 712 (6,275) 
Increase in provision for employee benefits 415 257 

Net cash from operating activities 42,063 30,666 
 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

Accounting policies 
 
RECEIVABLES 

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. 

The only material receivables at year end are for GST and fuel tax credits receivable from the Australian Taxation Office. 

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to be approximate fair value. 
 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Current   
GST receivable 583 888 
Diesel fuel credit receivable 569 491 

Secured deposits 20 20 
Refundable deposits 76 76 
Prepaid royalties - 401 

Sundry debtors 568 - 
Prepayments 785 538 

 2,601 2,414 
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10. INVENTORIES 

Accounting policy 
 
Finished goods, bullion, gold in circuit and stockpiles of unprocessed ore are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. 

Cost is determined on the basis of weighted average costs and comprises the costs of direct materials and the costs of 
production which include: 
 Labour costs, materials and contractor expenses and production overheads which are directly attributable to the 

extraction and processing of ore; 
 Depreciation of property plant and equipment used in the extraction and processing of ore; and 
 Amortisation of capitalised mine development for the area from which the ore is extracted. 

Net realisable value tests are performed at each reporting date.  Net realisable value is determined with reference to the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and costs of selling the final 
product, including royalties. 

Consumables are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Current   
Consumables 2,972 3,184 

Ore stockpile at cost 10,176 10,944 
Gold in circuit at cost 905 4,140 
Bullion on hand at cost 2,511 118 

 16,564 18,386 

 
11. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

Accounting policy 
 
Exploration and evaluation assets include the costs of acquiring licences as well as the costs associated with exploration 
and evaluation activity.  Exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised on an area of interest basis. 

Exploration and evaluation costs related to an area of interest are carried forward only when rights of tenure to the area 
are current and provided that one of the following conditions is met: 
 such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or 

alternatively by its sale; or 
 exploration and/or evaluation activities in the area have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a 

reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active operations, in, 
or relating to, the area are continuing. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility 
and commercial viability is unlikely, or (ii) facts and circumstances suggest the carrying value exceeds the recoverable 
amount.  For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash generating units 
(CGU) to which the exploration activity relates.  The CGU is not larger than the area of interest. 

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest are 
demonstrable and extraction activities has commenced, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to the area of 
interest are first tested for impairment and then reclassified to mine development. 

The application of the above policy requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions about future events 
or circumstances, in particular, whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established.  Estimates and 
assumptions may change if new information becomes available. 
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11. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Opening balance at 1 January 7,341 7,746 
Expenditure capitalised for the year  14,258 1,494 
Acquisition of tenements (i) 1,807 - 
Reclassification to mine development (3,141) - 

Disposal of tenements (ii) - (1,899) 
Impairment (iii) (145) - 

Closing balance at 31 December  20,120 7,341 

(i) Acquisition of tenements 
In June 2016, the Company acquired a 100% interest in 12 core tenements for $1.732 million.  These tenements were 
previously subject to a Mining Licence agreement and profit share arrangement where 25% of the proceeds (after 
cost reductions) were payable to the vendors. 

On 30 August 2016, the Company issued 221,697 ordinary shares at $0.3383 per share as consideration of $75,000 
for the purchase of two tenements. 

 (ii) Disposal of tenements 
On 27 March 2015, the Company entered into an agreement for the sale of non-core Beaton Creek tenements for 
$3.800 million.  The sale resulted in a net gain of $1.902 million. 

(iii) Impairment  
 The impairment relates to the relinquishment of tenements in areas of interest where no future  exploration and 
 evaluation activities are expected.   

 
12. MINE PROPERTIES 

Accounting policies 

 MINE DEVELOPMENT COSTS 

Mine development represents expenditure in respect of exploration, evaluation, feasibility and pre-production operating 
costs incurred previously and carried forward in relation to areas of interest in which mining has now commenced.  Mine 
development is stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where a mine operates several open pits that are regarded as separate operations for the purpose of mine planning, mine 
development costs are accounted for separately by reference to the ore from each separate pit.  If, however, the pits are 
highly integrated for the purpose of the mine planning, the second and subsequent pits are regarded as extensions of the 
first pit in accounting for mine development costs. 

Accumulated mine development costs are amortised on a unit-of-production (UOP) basis over the economically recoverable 
reserves of the mine.  The UOP rate for the depreciation/amortisation of mine development costs takes into account 
expenditures incurred to date.  The UOP is ounces mined. 
 
STRIPPING COSTS 

Stripping costs incurred in the development of a mine before production commences are capitalised as part of the cost of 
constructing the mine and subsequently amortised over the life of the mine on a units-of-production (UOP) basis.  These 
form part of mine development costs. 

Stripping costs incurred subsequently during the production stage of operations are deferred to the extent that the current 
period strip ratio (i.e. the ratio of waste to ore) exceeds the life of mine strip ratio. 

Such deferred costs are then charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to the extent, in subsequent periods, the 
current period ratio falls short of life of mine strip ratio.  The calculated strip ratio and the remaining life of mine are 
reassessed annually.  Changes are accounted for prospectively from the date of change. 
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12. MINE PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

 STRIPPING COSTS (CONTINUED) 

  2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Opening balance at 1 January 8,026 - 
Expenditure for the year 10,041 4,532 
Transfer from exploration and evaluation assets 3,141 - 
Transfer from capital work in progress 129 - 

Rehabilitation provision adjustment 7,119 5,030 
Amortisation (11,416) (1,536) 

Closing balance at 31 December 17,040 8,026 

 
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Accounting policy 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition, installation and commissioning 
of an item. 
Costs subsequent to the initial recognition of an asset are included in the assets carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over each item’s expected useful life to 
the Company. 
The expected useful life of property, plant and equipment is the shorter of the life of the mine and the useful life of the 
individual item. 
The gain or loss arising on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit and loss. 

2016 

Plant and 
equipment 

Land and 
buildings 

Critical 
spares 

Infra-
structure 

Capital 
works in 
progress Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
At cost 59,854 2,485 1,980 43 1 64,363 
Accumulated depreciation (38,586) (1,043) (1,583) (28) - (41,240) 

Closing carrying amount 21,268 1,442 397 15 1 23,123 
       
Reconciliation of carrying 
amounts       

Opening carrying amount 30,410 1,900 817 35 546 33,708 

Additions - - - - 77 77 
Transfer / reclassification 355 72 60 - (622) (135) 
Disposal (4) - - - - (4) 

Depreciation expense (9,493) (530) (480) (20) - (10,523) 

Closing carrying amount 21,268 1,442 397 15 1 23,123 
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

2015 

Plant and 
equipment 

Land and 
buildings 

Critical 
spares 

Infra-
structure 

Capital 
works in 
progress Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At cost 59,509 2,413 1,921 43 546 64,432 

Accumulated depreciation (29,099) (513) (1,104) (8) - (30,724) 

Closing carrying amount 30,410 1,900 817 35 546 33,708 

       
Reconciliation of carrying 
amounts       

Opening carrying amount 39,174 2,410 1,284 - 549 43,417 
Additions 327 - - - 254 581 

Transfer / reclassification 211 3 - 43 (257) - 
Depreciation expense (9,302) (513) (467) (8) - (10,290) 

Closing carrying amount 30,410 1,900 817 35 546 33,708 
 
14. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is an indication that an asset is impaired.  When an indication 
of impairment exists, the Company makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount.  Where the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which they are separately identifiable 
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets or group of assets (cash generating units).  
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

No impairment triggers were identified in current or prior period and therefore there was no impairment of assets in the 
current or prior period, other than as disclosed in note 11. 

 
15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Accounting policy 
 
TRADE PAYABLES 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial year 
and which are unpaid, together with assets ordered before the end of the financial year.  The amounts are unsecured and 
are generally paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 
EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, payroll tax and superannuation guarantee charges are recognised as employee 
entitlements in respect of employee services up to the reporting date.  They are measured at the amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled. 
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15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Trade payables 3,922 2,835 
Royalties payable 1,100 1,396 

Employee entitlements 248 212 
Accruals 4,563 4,422 
Other payables 197 453 

 10,030 9,318 

 
16. PROVISIONS 

Accounting policies 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation and it is probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  Where the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflect 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, when, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 
 
SITE REHABILITATION 

The Company records the present value of the estimated cost of legal and constructive obligations to rehabilitate and 
restore the operating location for areas disturbed by mining activities.  The nature of rehabilitative activities includes 
dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste sites and restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected 
areas.  The provision is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle the rehabilitation 
obligation at the reporting date, based on current legal requirements and technology. 

When the liability is initially recorded, the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related 
mining asset.  Over time, the liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect 
current market assessments and the risks specific to the liability.  This increase in the provision due to the passage of time 
is recognised as a finance cost in the statement of comprehensive income.  Additional disturbances or changes in 
rehabilitation costs will be recognised as additions or changes to the corresponding asset and rehabilitation provision when 
incurred prospectively from the date of change. 
 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  

Liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits are measured at the amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

An amount is recognised in “Current Provisions” (for annual leave) and “Trade and other payables” (for all other employee 
benefits) in respect of employees’ past service at reporting date.  Costs incurred in relation to non-accumulating sick leave 
are recognised when leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 
The liability for long service leave and other long term benefits is measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows resulting from employees’ services provided up to the reporting date. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Current   
Employee benefits 1,080 868 

 1,080 868 
   
Non-current   
Employee benefits 600 397 

Rehabilitation 18,574 11,052 

 19,174 11,449 
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16. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 
 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Provision for mine rehabilitation   
Balance at 1 January 11,052 5,878 
Unwinding of discount 161 144 
Provisions used during the year (1,194) - 

Provisions made/re-measured during the year 8,555 5,030 

Balance at 31 December 18,574 11,052 
 
17. BORROWINGS AND NET FINANCE COSTS 

Accounting policy 
 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  After initial recognition, 
interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Current   
Borrowings - 3,689 

On 26 February 2016, a final repayment was made against the syndicated loan facility, reducing borrowings to nil. 
 
NET FINANCE COSTS 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Unrealised gain on gold forward contracts  1,437 2,352 
Finance income 1,437 2,352 
   
Interest expenses on borrowing and finance lease liabilities (52) (2,697) 

Borrowing costs (64) (1,072) 
Unwinding of rehabilitation (161) (144) 
Realised loss on gold forward contracts (4,239) (2,986) 

Finance costs (4,516) (6,899) 
Net finance costs (3,078) (4,547) 

 
18. LEASE LIABILITIES 

Accounting policy 

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the 
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership. 
 
Operating leases 

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis. 

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they are incurred. 
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19. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

DERIVATIVES 

Accounting policy 
 
The Company uses derivative financial instruments such as gold forward sales contracts to manage the risk associated with 
commodity price fluctuations.  

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
measured at fair value.  The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are traded on an active market is determined 
using appropriate valuation techniques (refer note 23). 

Changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income net of any transaction costs. 

On 5 October 2016 the Company entered into a secured Common Terms Deed (“Deed”) with BNP Paribas. All gold forward 
sales contracts at the reporting date were provided under the Deed. 

The following table details the gold forward sale contracts outstanding as at the reporting date: 
 

  Ounces of gold  Weighted Average 
P i  

 Fair Value 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
   $/ounce $/ounce $’000 $’000 

Current asset       

0 – 6 months       
Gold forwards 8,174 13,970 1,774.64 1,508.36 1,395 611 

Current liabilities       
0 – 6 months       
Gold forwards - 12,868 - 1,418.70 - (653) 

 
 
20. EQUITY 

Accounting policy 
 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and, on a poll, are entitled 
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.  The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect 
of its issued shares. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
 
SHARE CAPITAL 

 2016  2015 
 No. of shares $’000  No. of shares $’000 

Ordinary shares – issued and fully paid 780,917,069 165,152  742,695,372 163,185 

Movement in share capital      

Opening balance 1 January 742,695,372 163,185  217,695,372 143,940 
Fully underwritten shareholders’ participation offer - -  525,000,000 21,000 
Transaction costs - (10)  - (1,755) 
Exercise of options 38,000,000 1,902  - - 

Equity issued for tenement purchased (note 11) 221,697 75  - - 

Balance at 31 December 780,917,069 165,152  742,695,372 163,185 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 REPORT (AUDITED)MUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

Page | 53 

20. EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 

Capital management 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it may 
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a capital structure that is 
appropriate for the Company’s current and/or projected financial position. 

The Board’s policy in relation to capital management is to regularly and consistently monitor future cash flows against 
expected expenditures for a rolling period of up to 12 months in advance.  The Board determines the Company’s need for 
additional funding by way of either share issues or loan funds depending on market conditions at the time.  The Board 
defines working capital in such circumstances as its excess liquid funds over liabilities, and defines capital as being the share 
capital of the Company, plus retained earnings, reserves and net debt.   
 
RESERVES 

Share option reserve 

The share option reserve is used to record the value of share-based payments provided to employees, including KMP, as 
part of their remuneration, as well as non-employees. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Opening balance at 1 January 4,387 3,080 
Share based payments expense 1,074 1,307 

Balance at 31 December 5,461 4,387 

 
21. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Accounting policy 
 
The value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options (the vesting period), ending on the date 
on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the option (the vesting date).  The valuing of the equity settled 
transactions are discussed in note 5. 
 
EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION PLAN (ESOP) 

Options are issued under the Employee Share Options Plan (Option Plan).  The objective of the Employee Share Option Plan 
is to link the achievement of the Company’s operational targets with the remuneration received by employees charged 
with meeting those targets.  Under the Option Plan, the board or Remuneration and Nomination Committee may issue 
eligible employees with options to acquire shares in future at an exercise price fixed by the board or Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee on grant of the options. 
 
The vesting of all options is subject to service conditions being met whereby the recipient must meet the eligible employee 
criteria as defined in the Option Plan.  
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21. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

SUMMARY OF OPTIONS GRANTED 
 No. of options 
Opening balance 1 January 2015 12,000,000 
Options issued under Employee Share Option Plan 26,600,000 
Options issued as consideration for role as lead manager in capital raising 14,000,000 

Options issued in terms with amended loan facility agreement 28,000,000 
Options lapsed during the year (16,000,000) 

Balance at 31 December 2015 64,600,000 
Options issued under Employee Share Option Plan  17,400,000 
Exercise of options (38,000,000) 
Options lapsed during the year (4,200,000) 

Balance at 31 December 2016 39,800,000 
 

  2016  2015 

Weighted average share price at the date of exercise  $0.28  - 
Weighted average remaining contractual life  3.86 years  2.9 years 

Range of exercise prices  $0.079 - $0.435  $0.028 - $0.079 
Weighted average fair value of options granted during the year  $0.07  $0.02 

 
On 25 November 2015, the Board recommended the issue of 11.7 million options to Mr Richard Procter (Non-executive 
Chairman), Mr Gregory Bittar (Executive Director) and Mr Ross Gillon (Non-executive Director) on the same terms and 
conditions as the grant of options to employees, subject to shareholders’ approval, which was obtained on 27 April 2016 at 
the Company’s annual general meeting.  Half of the options will vest after 2 years of continuous service and the remaining 
half vesting after 3 years of continuous service, subject to Board discretion and be exercisable on or before 18 November 
2019. 
 
On 21 July 2016, the Board recommended the issue of 2.4 million options to Mr Timothy Kennedy (Non-executive Director) 
on the same terms and conditions to employees, subject to shareholders’ approval. 
 
The fair value of the options has been estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing formula, taking into account the 
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.  The inputs used to calculate the fair value of these options 
are set out below. 

Grant date 17 Nov 2015 27 Apr 2016 21 July 2016 1 27 Oct 2016 

Share price at grant date $0.056 $0.15 $0.235 $0.295 
Exercise price $0.079 $0.079 $0.360 $0.435 
Risk-free interest rate 2.35% 2.16% 1.58% 1.9% 

Expected volatility 73.22% 100% 100% 100% 
Expected life 3 – 4 years 3 – 4 years 3 – 4 years 3 – 4 years 
Fair value per option at grant date $0.022 $0.115 $0.144 $0.186 

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may 
occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also 
not necessarily be the actual outcome. 

1 Options to be issued to Mr Timothy Kennedy are subject to shareholders’ approval which will occur after year end. For 
accounting purposes under AASB 2 “Share Based Payments” where grant date occurs after year end, the estimated value 
of the grant date is the end of the reporting period 31 December 2016.  Once the grant date has been established (upon 
shareholders’ approval), the estimated fair value of the share based payment shall be revised to use the fair value of the 
shares on the actual grant date. 
 

Current unlisted options on issue Expiry date Exercise price ($) No. of options 

Options issued under Employee Share Option Plan 18 Nov 2019 0.079 34,100,000 
Options issued under Employee Share Option Plan 21 Oct 2020 0.435 5,700,000 
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22. RELATED PARTIES 

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 
 2016 2015 
 $ $ 

Short-term employee benefits 1,591,897 1,341,916 
Post-employment benefits 110,489 79,885 
Long-term benefits 6,952 21,787 

Share-based payments 864,720 13,732 
Termination benefits 80,000 - 

Total compensation 2,654,058 1,457,320 
 

INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES COMPENSATION DISCLOSURES 

Information regarding individual directors’ and executives’ compensation and equity instrument disclosures required s300A 
of the Corporations Act and Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 are provided in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors’ Report. 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

In March 2014, a subordinated working capital facility of $7,000,000 was provided to the Company by its major shareholder, 
the IMC Group. Upon the successful raising of $21,000,000 through the Shareholders Participation Offer, Millennium, on 
11 December 2015, fully retired the facility provided by the IMC Group.  The amount of interest paid to IMC in 2015 was 
$1.49 million. 

 
23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 

(i) credit risk; 

(ii) liquidity risk; and 

(iii) market risk. 
 
This note presents qualitative and quantitative information in relation to the Company’s exposure to each of the above 
risks and the management of capital. 

 
The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework and the 
development and monitoring of risk management policies.  Risk management policies are established to identify and 
analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Company’s activities. 

CREDIT RISK 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security at balance date, is the carrying 
amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and other financial assets, as disclosed in the Statement 
of Financial Position and notes to the financial statements. 

The Company trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties and has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy 
counterparts and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of 
financial risk from defaults. 

Cash balances for the Company are held by three financial institutions who have credit ratings of AA or greater. 

The Company does not have any material credit risk exposure. 
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

LIQUIDITY RISK 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  Prudent liquidity 
management involves the maintenance of sufficient cash, marketable securities, committed credit facilities and access to 
capital markets.  It is the policy of the Board to ensure that the Company is able to meet its financial obligations through 
ensuring the Company has sufficient working capital and preserving the 15% share issue limit available to the Company 
under ASX Listing Rules. 
 
The Company manages liquidity by monitoring present cash flows and ensuring that adequate cash reserves, financing 
facilities and equity raisings are undertaken to ensure that the Company can meet its obligations. 
 
The following table analyses the Company’s financial liabilities, including net and gross financial instruments, into relevant 
maturity periods based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. and hence will not necessarily reconcile with the 
amounts disclosed in the statement of financial position. 
 

31 December 2016 
Carrying 
amount 

Total 2 months or 
less 

 2 – 12 
months 

Greater than 
1 year 

 $’000 $’000 $,000 $’000 $’000 

Trade and other payables 10,030 10,030 10,030 - - 
Total 10,030 10,030 10,030 - - 

31 December 2015 
Carrying 
amount Total 

2 months or 
less 

 2 – 12 
months 

Greater than 
1 year 

 $’000 $’000 $,000 $’000 $’000 

Trade and other payables 9,318 9,318 9,318 - - 
Borrowings 3,689 3,689 - 3,689 - 
Finance lease liabilities 289 289 289 - - 
Derivative liabilities 653 653 - 653 - 

Total 13,949 13,949 9,607 4,342 - 
 

MARKET RISK 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, commodity prices and 
equity prices will affect the Company’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return. 

Interest rate risk 

Since repayment of all of its borrowings and finance lease liabilities during the current year, the Company is only exposed 
to interest rate risk through its cash deposits, which attract variable interest rates. The Company monitors interest rates to 
obtain the best terms and mix of cash flow.   

At balance date, the Company had minimal exposure to interest rate risk, though its cash and cash equivalents held with 
financial institutions.  

 Carrying amount Carrying amount 
 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

 $’000 $’000 

Fixed rate instruments   
Financial assets - - 

Variable rate instruments   
Financial assets 25,271 11,509 
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

MARKET RISK (CONTINUED) 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 

There were an immaterial exposure to fixed rate instruments at balance date. 
 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/ (decreased) equity and profit or 
loss by the amounts shown below.  The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.  The analysis is performed 
on the same basis in 2015. 

 Profit or loss  Equity 
 100bp 100bp  100bp 100bp 
 Increase Decrease  Increase Decrease 
Financial assets      
31 December 2016 253 (253)  253 (253) 
31 December 2015 115 (115)  115 (115) 

 
Commodity price risk 

The Company is exposed to movements in the gold price.  As part of the risk management policy of the Company, it has 
entered into AUD gold forward contracts to manage the gold price of a proportion of anticipated sales of gold.  The following 
table summarised the gold hedging facilities held with BNP Paribas. 

 Volume Price 
Value of 

committed sales 
2016 Ounces $ $’000 

Not later than one year 8,174 1,775 13,048 
Later than one year and not later than five - - - 

 8,174 1,775 13,048 
    
2015    

Not later than one year 26,838 1,465 39,318 
Later than one year and not later than five - - - 

 26,838 1,465 39,318 
 
The forward sale programme is managed in accordance with policies approved by the Board.  Performance under these 
policies is regularly reported to the Board. 
 
Sensitivity analysis for commodities 

The following table illustrates sensitivities of the Company’s exposure to commodity prices.  The table indicates the impact 
on how profit and equity values reported at the end of the reporting period would have been affected by changes in the 
relevant risk variable that management considers to be reasonably possible. 

These sensitivities assume that the movement in particular variable is independent of other variables. 

 Profit or loss  Equity 
 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 
 Increase Decrease  Increase Decrease 

31 December 2016      
+/- AUD200/ounce GOLD 5,927 (5,927)  5,927 (5,927) 

31 December 2015      
+/- AUD200/ounce GOLD 10,102 (10,102)  10,102 (10,102) 
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Valuation of financial instruments 

For all fair value measurements and disclosures, the Company uses the following to categorise the method used: 

 Level 1: the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets. The Company does not have any financial 
assets or liabilities in this category. 

 Level 2: the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).  The Company’s derivative assets and 
liabilities (gold forwards) are classified as Level 2, as they were valued using valuation techniques that employed the 
use of market observable inputs.  The most frequently applied valuation technique includes forward pricing using 
present value calculations. 

 Level 3: the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.  
The Company does not have any financial assets or liabilities in this category.   

Fair value of derivative instruments are determined using valuation techniques incorporating observable market data 
relevant to the hedge position.  

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets   
- derivative instruments current 1,395 611 

- derivative instruments non-current - - 

 1,395 611 

Financial liabilities   
- derivative instruments current - 653 
- derivative instruments non-current - - 

 - 653 
 

24. COMMITMENTS 
 
OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

The Company leases its corporate office under an operating lease, expiring within 2 years. The lease commenced 15 May 
2013 with the end date being 30 September 2018.  Lease payments are typically escalated annually reflecting market 
conditions and inflation. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Lease expenditure contracted:   
- due within one year 231 223 
- due within one and five years 174 390 

 405 613 
 
FINANCE LEASE COMMITMENTS 

The Company has entered into a hire purchase agreement for the purchase of fuel tanks and finance leases for the purchase 
of plant, property and equipment. The hire purchase contract expired on 30 June 2016 and the finance leases were fully 
paid by February 2016. Ownership of the financed assets have since been passed to the Company. 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

Lease expenditure contracted and provided for:   
- due within one year - 339 

 - 339 
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24. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration permits, the Company has certain obligations to perform 
minimum exploration work and expend minimum amounts of money.  These commitments may be varied as a result of 
renegotiations, relinquishments, farm-outs, sales or carrying out work in excess of the permit obligations.  The following 
exploration expenditure requirements have not been provided for in the financial report and are payable: 

 2016 2015 
 $’000 $’000 

The minimum level of exploration commitments   
- due within one year 2,649 2,557 
- due within one and five years 9,922 9,570 
- due later than five years 25,535 26,472 

 38,106 38,599 

 
25. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

 2016 2015 
 $ $ 

KPMG   
Audit and review of Company’s financial statements 80,000 - 

Other audit services – prior year comparatives and opening balances 40,000 - 
Other services – advisory 30,000 - 

Rothsays Chartered Accountants   
Audit and review of Company’s financial statements - 63,000 

 150,000 63,000 
 
26. CONTINGENCIES 

The Company did not have any contingent assets or liabilities at 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil). 

 
27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company announced on 9 February 2017, the retirement of Richard Procter as the Non-executive Chairman and the 
appointments of Greg Bittar as the Non-executive Chairman and Peter Lester as a Non-executive Director.  Both 
appointments are effective from 1 March 2017. 

On 20 March 2017, the General Manager – Corporate Development, Peter Cash, was appointed Chief Executive Officer, 
replacing Glenn Dovaston who resigned mutual agreement with the Company. 
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1. In the opinion of the directors: 

(a) The financial statements, notes and the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report of the Company are in 
 accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:  

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2016 and on its 
 performance for the year then ended; and 

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 (b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
 due and payable. 

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in 
 accordance with s295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. 

3. The financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1. 

 

The declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 
Gregory Bittar 
Chairman 
Perth, Western Australia 
27 March 2017 
 

 



 

 

 
KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Profession Standards Legislation. 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the shareholders of Millennium Minerals Limited 

Report on the audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
the Company.  

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of Millennium Minerals Limited (the 
Company) is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including  

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Company’s financial position as at 31 
December 2016 and of its financial 
performance for the year ended on that 
date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

The Financial Report comprises the: 

• Statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2016 

• Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity, and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended 

• Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the relevant 
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code.  

Key Audit Matters 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the Financial Report of the current period.  

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Report as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

  



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Capitalised exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets  
AU $20,120 thousand  

Refer to Note 11 to the financial report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Assessing the presence of impairment 
indicators for the capitalised E&E assets was a 
key audit matter for us.   

Capitalised E&E is a significant asset recorded 
in relation to the Company’s total assets (19%).  
The Company’s capitalised E&E assets relate to 
the Nullagine Gold Project held via numerous 
licenses. The presence of impairment indicators 
would necessitate a detailed analysis by 
management of the value of E&E under 
relevant accounting standards.  Therefore, 
given the criticality of determining the presence 
of impairment indicators to the scope and depth 
of our work, we involved senior team members 
to challenge management’s determination that 
no impairment indicators existed.  The key 
indicators we focused on were those that may 
draw into question the commercial continuation 
of exploration and evaluation activities 
(activities) for certain areas of interest where 
significant capitalised E&E exists.  This involved 
assessing: 

• The Company’s compliance with key 
license conditions, in particular minimum 
expenditure requirements 

• The ability of the Company to fund the 
continuation of activities in the specific 
areas of interest, and 

• Management’s assessments of 
prospectivity for areas of interest and the 
associated strategy and intentions of the 
Company for the continuation of E&E 
activities in those areas of interest. 

For this key audit matter our audit procedures 
were influenced by the requirements of the 
specific accounting standard on exploration and 
evaluation and included:  

• Testing the Company’s compliance with 
minimum expenditure requirements for a 
sample of licenses 

• Obtaining project and corporate budgets 
which we compared for consistency to areas 
with capitalised exploration and evaluation 
expenditure, for evidence of the ability to 
fund continued activities   

• Evaluating Company documents for 
consistency with management’s assessment 
of prospectivity and stated intentions for 
continuing activities in certain areas of 
interest.  We also corroborated this through 
interviewing key operational and finance 
personnel. The documents included: 

• internal management plans 

• minutes of board and internal 
management meetings 

• reports lodged with the relevant 
government authorities 

• announcements made by the Company 
to the ASX  

 

  



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Millennium Minerals Limited’s annual 
reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors 
are responsible for the Other Information.  

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Chairman’s 
Address, Operations Review, Corporate Governance Statement and the Directors’ Report. The 
remaining Other Information is expected to be made available to us after the date of the Auditor's 
Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, the 
auditor does not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the 
Remuneration Report. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with 
the Financial Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives 
a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. This includes disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar1.pdf. 
This description forms part of our Auditor’s Report. 

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar1.pdf


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report 
of Millennium Minerals Limited for the 
year ended 31 December 2016, complies 
with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. 

Director’s responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Our responsibilities 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in 
the Director’s report for the year ended 31 December 
2016.  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our Audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

KPMG  R Gambitta 
Partner 

 Perth 

 27 March 2017  
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The following additional information required by the ASX Listing Rules is current as at 24 March 2017. 
 
EQUITY SECURITIES HOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Ordinary shares 

780,917,069 quoted fully paid ordinary shares (MOY).  All ordinary shares carry one vote per share. 
 

Distribution of fully paid ordinary shares Number of holders Number of shares % of issued capital 

1 – 1000 1,678 650,160 0.08 % 

1001 – 5,000 1,507 4,096,402 0.52 % 

5,001 – 10,000 708 5,694,414 0.73 % 

10,001 – 100,000 1,787 66,729,543 8.55 % 

100,000+ 501 703,746,550 90.12 % 

Total holders 6,181 780,917,069 100.00 % 

 

The top 20 shareholders are as follows: 

Twenty largest holders of Ordinary Fully Paid Shares Number of shares % issued capital 

1. J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  347,095,106  44.45 % 

2. IMC Resources Limited  48,020,094  6.15 % 

3. HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  30,999,049  3.97 % 

4. Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  26.375,411  3.38 % 

5. IMC Resources Gold Holdings Pte Ltd  22,000,000  2.82 % 

6 Pershing Australia Nominees Pty Ltd <Q Account>  12,515,020  1.60 % 

7. Berne No. 132 Nominees Pty Ltd <656165 A/C>  11,984,228  1.53% 

8. Mr Claude Cainero & Mr Hak Hau Kwok  6,366,735  0.82 % 

9. Mr Dylan Coles  3,742,523  0.48 % 

10. BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <DRP>  3,699,761  0.47 % 

11. Coleco Nominees Pty Ltd <S & D Cole Super Fund>  3,500,000  0.45 % 

12. Mr Glenn Leslie Dovaston  3,350,000  0.43 % 

13. Mr Steven Alexander Milligan & Mrs Joy Patricia Milligan  3,000,000  0.38 % 

14. ABN Amro Clearing Sydney Nominees Pty Ltd <Custodian A/C>  2,928,874   0.38 % 

15. Mr Gregory John Bittar  2,700,000  0.35 % 

16. UBS Nominees Pty Ltd   2,585,065  0.33 % 

17. Mr Adam John Menaglio  2,500,000  0.32 % 

18. Yandal Investments Pty Ltd  2,454,546  0.31 % 

19. Mrs Vicky Wei Min Teoh  2,399,626  0.31 % 

20. Mrs Maureen Patricia McClements & Ms Sheree Leanne King  2,281,519  0.29 % 

TOTAL   540,497,557  69.21 % 
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Unlisted options 

35,600,000 unlisted options with various exercise prices and expiry dates (refer table below).  Options do not carry a right to 
vote.  Voting rights will be attracted to the unissued shares when the options have been exercised. 

Expiry date No. of options Exercise price No. of holders Holding > 20% 

18 Nov 2019  32,600,000  $0.079  11 Issued under Employee Share Option Plan 

21 Oct 2020  3,000,000  $0.435  2 Issued under Employee Share Option Plan 

 
Substantial shareholders 

The substantial shareholders as disclosed in the substantial shareholding notices received by the Company are as follows: 

Name No. of shares  Holding 

Heritas Capital Management (Perth)  309,006,003  39.57% 

IMC Resources Limited  48,020,094  6.15% 
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Tenement Registered Holder 

Millennium 
Beneficial 
Interest 

AREA OF INTEREST 1 – GOLDEN EAGLE AREA 

L46/45 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
L46/88 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
L46/89 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

L46/90 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
L46/91 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
L46/92 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/138 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/186 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/263 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/267 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/300 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/432 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/436 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/443 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/444 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1755 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
P46/1756 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
P46/1759 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

P46/1760 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
P46/1761 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
P46/1823 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

P46/1878 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
P46/1879 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
P46/1880 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

P46/1881 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
P46/1882 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

   

Tenement Registered Holder 

Millennium 
Beneficial 
Interest 

AREA OF INTEREST 2 – FIVE MILE 

L46/33 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/170 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/192 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/261 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/262 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/264 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/265 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/266 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/445 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/446 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/50 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

 

 

Tenement Registered Holder 

Millennium 
Beneficial 
Interest 
 

AREA OF INTEREST 3 – MIDDLE CREEK 

G46/2 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/146 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/164 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/166 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/167 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/182 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/198 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/199 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/225 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/272 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/273 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/274 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/275 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/276 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/277 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/282 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/3 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/302 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/430 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/431 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/441 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/442 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/447 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/57 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/64 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/98 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
P46/1824 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
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Tenement Registered Holder 

Millennium 
Beneficial 
Interest 

AREA OF INTEREST 4 – GOLDEN GATE/TWENTY MILE 

L46/105 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
L46/115 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
L46/98 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/129 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/163 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/187 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/189 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/200 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 
M46/245 Taylor, David John 100% 
M46/278 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/279 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 
M46/283 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/303 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/426 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/427 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/428 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/429 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

M46/433 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/434 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/448 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/47 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

M46/56 Taylor, David John 100% 

P46/1670 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1671 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1672 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1673 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1674 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1675 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1676 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1703 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1704 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1705 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1706 Millennium Minerals Limited* 100% 

P46/1707 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

P46/1757 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

P46/1758 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

P46/1804 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

P46/1855 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

P46/1856 Millennium Minerals Limited 100% 

* Royalties applied. 






